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Corporate Profile

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”) (Stock Code:

2319) and its subsidiaries (the “Group” or “Mengniu”) manufacture and
distribute quality dairy products in China. It is one of the leading dairy
product manufacturers in China, with MENGNIU as its core brand. The
Group's diversified products range includes liquid milk products (such as
UHT milk, milk beverages and yogurt), ice cream and other dairy products
(such as milk formula and cheese). By the end of June 2013, the Group’s
annual production capacity reached 7.59 million tons.
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NEIEHR

Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Ms. SUN Yiping (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. BAI'Ying

Mr. WU Jingshui

Mr. DING Sheng

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. NING Gaoning (Chairman)
Mr. YU Xubo (Vice-Chairman)
Mr. NIU Gensheng

Mr. MA Jianping

Mr. Tim @rting JORGENSEN

Mr. Finn S. HANSEN

Ms. LIU Ding (Vice-Chairvoman) (appointed on 10 January 2013)
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. JJAO Shuge (alias JIAO Zhen) (Vice-Chariman)

Mr. Julian Juul WOLHARDT
Mr. LIU Fuchun

Mr. ZHANG Xiaoya

Mr. XIE Tao

Mr. Andrew Y. YAN

Mr. WU Kwok Keung Andrew

(resigned on 1 April 2013)
(appointed on 10 January 2013)
(appointed on 1 April 2013)

Senior Management

Mr. LU Jianjun

Mr. YAQO Haitao

Ms. LIU Yan

Mr. LIU Shendli

Mr. Jesper Fournaise COLDING

Ms. WU Wennan, Bessie

Mr. KWOK Wai Cheong, Chris (Qualified Accountant & Company Secretary)

Stock Code
Hong Kong Stock Exchange 2319

o=y
HITES
BRSEL+(18E)
St
REkESE
TERAE

FHITES

EoELE(EE)
TR A (BIFERE)

FIRERE

Tim @rting JORGENSENZEA4E

Finn S. HANSENSE 4=

WMT 2+ (BIEE) (RZE—=F—A+HZM
BYFHITES

ERE(XEBER)EE(FIEE)

Julian Juul WOLHARDT L4

2R EE

SRR

AR A (R=ZZ—=FMA—H#&T)
Bk (R=ZZ—=F—A+BZF)
HABYsR S (R=ZZ—=FMA—HZI)

EREERE

ERESRE

gEEE

B+

BRI E

Jesper Fournaise COLDING /L4
KXt
BREEFE(EEIEEF IR L EIE)
AR

BRBERZFH2319



FESFAEARAR —T-=F4gns 003
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Highlights
HE

Revenue WA
Gross profit EF

Profit attributable to owners of the Company 2N &)HEE AFE(GF)E
Net cash inflow from operating activities REEREARERSR

Earnings per share (RMB) BREMARET)
—Basic —&R
— Diluted —#58

For the six months ended 30 June (Unaudited)
BEANA=THILAER (RESEX)

2013 2012 Change
—g2—= —EF o
RMB’000 RMB'000 %
ARET T ARETTT AL
20,667,981 18,243,824 13.3%
5,519,154 4,643,553 18.9%
749,494 644,690 16.3%
2,331,577 1,156,476 101.6%
0.419 0.365 14.8%
0.419 0.365 14.8%

e  Continued to optimise the management and control over quality

and safety, strengthened efforts to build milk sources, integrated
sales channels and improved its information systems, so as to
comprehensively support its rapid development and as a result,
successfully boosted the Group's revenue and profit.

Took advantage of the synergies from the strategic cooperation with
Danone Group and Yashili and the closer cooperation with Arla Foods,
to further expand Mengniu’s yogurt and milk formula businesses.

Embarked on a strategic initiative “Brand Focus, Standards
Establishment, Network Exploitation and Selling Power Enhancement, ”
aimed at driving an increase in sales. According to data released by
Nielsen, a marketing research firm, Mengniu continued to rank first in
terms of the market share of liquid milk and yogurt in the first half of
2013.

Streamlined product portfolio by reducing the number of brands and
organising them in groups each with a clear role to play for the growth
and profitability of the Group.

Aligned production capacity with market potential and product
strategies, Mengniu has set up 28 production bases across the country
with a total production capacity of 7.59 million tonnes as of June
2013.

Adopted a restricted share award scheme. Through the grant of
restricted shares to the core management team and outstanding
employees at all levels, Mengniu has shared the fruits of its business
development with its employees, directly linking the interests of
employees with those of the Group and its shareholders.
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Revenue by Product Mix
For the six months ended 30 June
REREID 2WA
BEZAA=1THLXEA
RMB Million
ARMEBT
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Revenue by Product Mix in Liquid Milk Segment

Highlights f§ 2

For the six months ended 30 June
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEBFNWN TN

Market Review

According to the data of the National Bureau of Statistics, total retail sales of
social consumer goods in the first half of 2013 jumped by 12.7% year-on-
year to RMB11,076.4 billion. China’s consumer market has been showing a
moderate upward trend, which is expected to pick up further in the second
half of the year. Meanwhile, along with the acceleration of urbanisation,
more than 10 million new migrants have fuelled a huge market demand
within the second and third-tier cities each year. Moreover, the development
potential of the rural market has yet to be fully uncovered. All these factors
represent a wide array of opportunities to tap China’s consumer market.

The dairy industry has maintained steady growth, as reflected in a
nationwide dairy cumulative production of 13 million tonnes as of the first
half of 2013, a year-on-year growth of 11.63%. However, China’s annual
per capita consumption of dairy products was only 23 kg, much lower than
the rest of Asia at 50 kg and was even far behind the world’s average level.
Notwithstanding this, driven by the rising demand for healthy and high-end
dairy products and the increasing spending power of people in China, the
dairy industry is expected to enjoy broader room for development.

In addition, the Chinese government is determined to rectify the dairy
industry. The government has endeavoured to enhance the level of safety
of dairy products, hence to boost consumers’ confidence through the
implementation of stringent regulatory measures. It has also encouraged the
pooling of resources to support large enterprises with a strong competitive
edge. According to the target of the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology, the degree of industry concentration will be increased to
70% within two years. The dairy industry has entered a new round of
consolidation.
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Business Review

Following the internal structural adjustment in 2012, Mengniu has
gradually refined the details, which has helped bolster synergies among
various departments. Meanwhile, in line with the consolidation and the
internationalisation trend in China’s dairy industry, Mengniu has actively
expanded its business under the support of the COFCO Group, its major
shareholder. In the first half of the year, Mengniu engaged in mergers
and acquisitions as well as strategic partnerships with three companies,
including China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (“Modern Dairy”, Stock Code:
1117), Danone S.A. and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Danone Group”)
and Yashili International Holdings Ltd (“Yashili”, Stock Code: 1230). These
partnerships enabled the Group to pave a solid path for rapid development
in the future, while enhancing its product safety and quality.

According to the data released by Nielsen, a marketing research firm,
Mengniu ranked first in terms of the market share of liquid milk and yogurt
in the first half of 2013. In addition, Mengniu’s liquid milk was granted
two awards by the China Industrial Information Issuing Center in March
2013, namely the “Most Credible Consumer Brand in 2012 and the “Best
Nationwide Seller in Sales Volume and Sales Amount in Its Category in
2012".

Strategic Cooperation
- with Modern Dairy

On 8 May 2013, the Company announced that it has agreed to
acquire approximately 26.92% of the then issued shares of Modern
Dairy at a total consideration of approximately HK$3,177.52 million.
The Company became the largest single shareholder of Modern Dairy
upon completion of the acquisition. Together with an approximately
1.08% interest originally held, the Company has an aggregate holding
of approximately 28% of issued shares of Modern Dairy. According to
the Dairy Association of China, Modern Dairy is the leading raw milk
producer in China in terms of herd size. It was the first diary company
to introduce advanced international management model to China’s
dairy breeding industry, which helped to strictly control raw milk
production processes and provide consumers with safe and quality
dairy products. Modern Dairy is a long-term partner of the Group,
and its largest raw milk supplier. The increase in shareholding has
enabled Mengniu to better assure quality milk sources and exert this
advantage. This is consistent with the Group’s development strategy.
Moving ahead, Mengniu is to bolster closer cooperation with Modern
Dairy and apply its advanced ranch management experience to
Mengniu’s self-built ones.
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With Danone Group

On 20 May 2013, the Company, through its operating subsidiary,
entered into a framework agreement with a subsidiary of Danone
S.A., the world's leading producer of fresh dairy products, regarding
the proposed establishment of a joint venture which will be engaged
in the production and sales of chilled yogurt, chilled yogurt drinks
and spoonable dairy based desserts in China. The two parties are to
contribute to and reorganise their chilled products businesses in China
for the joint venture. On 9 August 2013, the parties entered into the
amended and restated framework agreement and further entered into
the equity joint venture contract in relation to the establishment of a
joint venture holding company. An 80% interest in the joint venture
was held by Mengniu Group, with the remaining 20% interest held
by Danone Group. In addition, according to an agreement between
Farwill Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO Corporation
("COFCO") and Danone, Danone has officially become a strategic
shareholder of the Company, holding (through its wholly-owned
subsidiary) 49% in a joint venture company (which is held as to 51%
by COFCO (through its wholly-owned subsidiary)), which in turn
holds approximately 8.3% shares in the Company. Riding on Danone
Group's global-leading technology in the research and development of
yogurt, coupled with its brand management and marketing expertise,
Mengniu will further tap the potential of China’s yogurt market, while
beefing up Mengniu’s technological innovation capabilities in the dairy
industry and providing consumers with quality dairy products.

With Yashili

On 18 June 2013, Mengniu announced a general offer to Yashili
at a consideration of approximately HK$11.4 billion, which was the
largest acquisition in China’s milk formula industry. The acquisition
was approved at the extraordinary general meeting held on 16 July
2013. As at 13 August 2013 (the final closing date of the offer),
valid acceptances of the share offer have been received in respect of
3,196,747,945 Yashili shares, representing approximately 89.82% of
the issued share capital of Yashili. Upon completion of the acquisition,
Yashili will retain its independent operating platform. Yashili is currently
one of the largest manufacturers and distributors of milk formula in
China. Its quality imported dairy raw materials, self-developed milk
formula products, advanced production systems and professional
marketing team which is familiar with China’s consumer market will
bring significant growth to the milk formula business of Mengniu,
enabling the Group to capture swift growth opportunities in the
domestic pediatric milk formula market.
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With Arla Foods

During the period, through the platform of the China-Denmark Milk
Technical and Cooperation Center, Mengniu introduced a series of
advanced dairy technology from Denmark. Specifically, the first phase
of development and validation of the fingerprint spectrum testing
project for raw milk systems has been successfully completed, and the
second phase has commenced. Through collaboration with Denmark'’s
FOSS Analytical A/S Company and Arla Foods, research efforts were
made to put in place 11 testing methods for China’s raw milk quality.

In respect of products, Mengniu has gradually introduced products
such as Arla Foods' UHT organic milk and Baby & Me premium
pediatric organic milk formula. In May 2013, Arla Foods took part in
Asia’s largest and most influential event of its kind, the “BioFach China
2013 — China International Organic Trade Fair and Conference”.
In light of current concerns over the safety of pediatric food, Arla
Foods’ organic products and traceable concept were well-received
by a large number of consumers, paving the way for product launch
across various cities in China during the second half of the year. In the
future, Mengniu will continue to introduce quality products from Arla
Foods, such as cheese and butter. On the professional front, Mengniu
continued to introduce marketing and technology professionals
from Arla Foods to support Mengniu’s daily operations. In addition,
Mengniu actively explored new areas of cooperation by periodically
hosting China-Denmark experts’ seminars, so as to promote the
exchange and collaboration among experts from both parties.

EdArla Foods
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Quality Management

In 2012, Mengniu has established the “four carriages”, specifically a
quality and safety management system and three quality management
centres on milk sources, operations and sales respectively, optimising the
new quality management system. Currently, the efforts in operational
coordination are beginning to pay off. With clear division of labour,
Mengniu has set up specific management standards for a number of key
processes of quality management. These standards are to ensure that
quality management is implemented across the industrial chain as well
as enhancing its end-to-end food quality control capability. Mengniu also
provided the management teams of these centers with regular training, so
that they would be knowledgeable in all aspects of quality management
standards and processes. With an accountability mechanism in place, the
personnel in charge of specific business segments would pay close attention
to quality control, so that the scope and reach of the quality management
could be effectively extended to the business frontline in a comprehensive
manner. The end-to-end quality safety management system enables
Mengniu to fully integrate with international standards and establish ranch
technology standards, implement strict production process controls, unify
quality management and assessment criteria and strengthen a laboratory
management and testing system. Meanwhile, Mengniu has built a checking
system that enables distributors to review reports of related products and
track product quality via the Internet at any time.

In addition, supported and witnessed by the Chinese and New Zealand
governments, Mengniu and AsureQuality Limited, an internationally
renowned food quality and safety certification organisation and a state-
owned enterprise in New Zealand, collaborated with the COFCO Group
and PricewaterhouseCoopers in New Zealand to enter into a cooperation
framework agreement in Beijing. The agreement is in relation to the
establishment of a third-party independent certification body on food quality
and safety. The partnership enabled Mengniu to lead the way to implement
a world-class food quality and safety certification across a dairy industry-
wide supply chain (including upstream ranches) in China. This initiative
enables Mengniu to further reinforce its control over food quality and safety,
and adds impetus to the full integration of China’s dairy industry with
international standards.

Building Milk Sources

Mengniu remained focused on enhancing the quality of milk sources,
and forged closer cooperation with raw milk suppliers, strengthening the
product quality from its sources. During the period, Mengniu’s milk sources
provided by ranches and scaled farms reached 94%, maintaining the top
spot in the industry.
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To further optimise the structure of milk sources, on the one hand, Mengniu
adheres to a comprehensive management model for self-built ranches,
ranches in which it holds shares and ranches where it has controlling
interest. Mengniu has introduced Danish ranch management systems for the
integration of domestic quality ranches and the establishment of a quality
milk source base. The construction and management of ranches was based
on international milk sources standards. On the other hand, a delegated
administration model was used for ranches that Mengniu cooperated with,
under which ownership and management were independent. Mengniu's
professional team provided training and technical personnel to these
ranches, with a view to improving efficiency and increasing income. This
assistance has assured the quality of raw milk, heralding the transformation
of the upstream dairy industry towards an intensive, standardised breeding
mode.

As of the end of June 2013, Mengniu has commenced the construction of
eight self-built ranches, among which six ranches have already been put into
operation. They were expected to be ready for milking by the end of 2014.
In addition, with the initiation of the Arla Garden’s ranch management
combined with the Arla Foods' ranch management model and Mengniu's
production management model, Mengniu has put in place a unique,
standard ranch operating model and applied it to its self-built ranches as a
demonstration model.

Sales Channels

In 2013, Mengniu embarked on a strategic initiative “Brand Focus,
Standards Establishment, Network Exploitation and Selling Power
Enhancement”, aiming at driving an increase in sales. In relation to the
brand focus, the Group enhanced the distribution rate of key products
such as Pure Milk (#£4473), Suan Suan Ru (B¢E£Z]), Fruit Fiber (R4
#), Yoyi C (BzxC) and Deluxe (FFBETEEZ). In respect of the standards
establishment, standards for various aspects of the sales channels were
formulated in reaction to the circumstances of the dairy industry, so as
to improve efficiency. In connection with network exploitation, Mengniu
strived to enhance the coverage of retail outlets by expanding key points
of sales. For selling power enhancement, the Group strived to boost staff
morale and foster sales growth through the development of distribution
standards and channel distribution policies, such as package promotion and
gift distribution. In addition, Mengniu’s sales and distribution management
personnel will share successful case studies regarding the expansion of
outlets on a monthly basis.
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Mengniu has focused on optimising its sales teams and the sales structure
of dealers. Standard operations training and tracking services have been
provided to help dealers improve their sales performance. The Group
has integrated underperforming dealers in an effort to improve sales
effectiveness. Mengniu has also improved the distribution and retail services
model by adding branch company direct operations and a center business
unit (“CBU"), while combining its regional business unit (“RBU"). In respect
of modern channels, retail and sales tasks of key accounts (“KA") were
gradually carried out by Mengniu’s professional team, instead of by dealers,
so as to gather first-hand market information and enhance control over
sales channels.

Through refining its marketing model, Mengniu has achieved satisfactory
results in developing the sales channels. Towards this end, the Group
firstly stepped up management of KA through a multi-layered interactive
model between itself and its KA. The KA team of the head office would
communicate with the national traders, KA teams of key regions with the
regional traders, and the CBU and RBU with the retail outlets via the dealers.
The Group has consolidated resources and achieved lean management on
sales network through operational procedures and standardised practices,
extending from the establishment of strategic relations with retail customers
up to the offering of Mengniu’s products at each retail store. In this way, the
Group attained systematic and precise management of the sales network.
Additionally, Mengniu engaged Nielsen and TNS China, two authoritative
consumer market research institutions, to jointly conduct a consumer
survey on China’s dairy products sector, the most extensive research effort
of its kind. The research studied in depth the shopping process of dairy
product, with a view to establish a demand-oriented sector-based sales
model. Through such a model, the Group could work with retail partners
to jointly promote sustainable development of the dairy industry, enhance
service standards and offer consumers a safer and value-added spending
experience. Vertically, Mengniu has made intensive efforts to extend its
reach in rural areas, thus tapping the uncovered market in third and fourth-
tier cities. Horizontally, the Group has expanded its channels by supporting
the development of special channels and placing focus on the E-commerce
business, so as to take an early-mover advantage of sales opportunities in
the future.
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Branding Strategy

Mengniu started to reap the benefits from a streamlined product portfolio
by reducing the number of brands and organising them in groups each with
a clear role to play for the growth and profitability of the Group. As a result,
star brands and opportunity brands have posted growth well ahead of the
average growth of Mengniu and the market.

The pursuit to increase return on media investment also meant that a
significantly higher proportion of funds were allocated to digital media.
One such campaign was the launch of the Annual Migration Campaign
documenting selected travellers returning home and their happiness
of reunion with family in the Chinese New Year, an ideal fit with the
“Little Happiness Matters” theme under the Mengniu brand umbrella.
The campaign attracted 18 million page views and more than 2 million
participation engagements.

Mengniu further boosted brand awareness and engagement by employing
a diverse range of marketing activities that leverage traditional media and
online platforms across the portfolio. The Group's highly creative advertising
campaign earned “The Tiger Roar Award for Traditional Media in China:
The Special Contribution Award for Advertisers 2012-2013" (Fb Bl 45 HL{E1E
R - F R -—FEEEFRHRRE.

Further to the Super Voice Girls (B84 % %) singing contest launched in
2005, Mengniu concluded another partnership agreement with Hunan
Satellite Television for the title sponsorship of The X Factor (Ff B &5&
&) singing reality show. This collaboration has helped raise awareness of
Mengniu's Suan Suan Ru (F#%%]) and has also provided a highly positive
association for the brand in general. The show has enabled Mengniu to
exude youthful and trendy touch in its brand image and has generated
positive reaction from the market.

In addition to the music competition, Mengniu has conducted a nationwide
marketing campaign, entitled “Enjoyable Visits to Green Mengniu” (4B 5
4+ 4885 5). The campaign covered four categories, including pure milk,
functional milk, breakfast milk and flavored milk, together with 39 products
from its portfolio. By inviting consumers to visit Mengniu’s plants, it forged
closer ties with them and enhanced the credibility and reputation of its
brand.
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Availing itself of the opportunity to support World Sleep Day and World
Intestinal Health Day, Mengniu has utilised above-the-line and below-
the-line resources to launch campaigns for Champion (i ##1), a leading
brand among high-end yogurt products, highlighted by “Strengthen
Your Immunity by Starting with Champion” (ZS#EN%) and “Protect
the Immunity” (&% 7). The campaigns were designed to arouse
consumers’ awareness of their immune systems by educating them about
the importance of healthy dietary habits as well as spurring their demand.

Yoyi C (225 C) is another fast-growing brand offering consumers a pro-
biotic beverage for healthy digestion and great taste. The highly interactive
campaign engaged consumers in various ways and was a good example
of a dialogue with the target consumers. The campaign used a number
of touch points to create awareness and product trials. Furthermore, the
campaign helped promote a healthy lifestyle, thus reinforcing Mengniu’s
healthy image. The campaign was well-received by consumers and has
become a successful marketing case study for industry peers.

Management System

Since the end of 2012, through the support from SAP, the world's leading
provider of enterprise management software solutions and IBM, the world's
most competent software implementation services provider, Mengniu
significantly enhanced its information systems management, thereby
strengthening its corporate competitiveness. SAP-constructed projects
included Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) System, Advanced Planning
Optimisation (APO) System, Dealer Management System (DMS), Customer
Relationship Management (CRM) System, Sales Force Automation (SFA)
System, Transportation Management System (TMS) and Business Intelligence
(Bl) System. Through system integration and information sharing, Mengniu
took a great step forward to map out its strategic targets by reinforcing its
six core capabilities, stretching from market-driven brand management,
channel management (dealer management), streamlining operations,
production and sales collaboration, quality management, as well as financial
management. As a result, Mengniu has effectively enhanced its operational
efficiency and reduced management costs.
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Financial Review

Revenue

During the period, the accelerated pace of urbanisation and the increase in
per capita income favoured the upgrade in consumption pattern. Against
this backdrop, the dairy industry attained steady growth. Mengniu is
committed to making further internal structural adjustments, perfecting its
quality control system, extending its sales network and optimising its product
portfolio, with a view to reinforcing its brand credibility and boosting
customer loyalty by various means. For the six months ended 30 June
2013, revenue of the Group grew by 13.3% year-on-year to RMB20,668.0
million (2012: RMB18,243.8 million). The products with a greater revenue
contribution were Pure Milk #E4-473), Milk Deluxe (/57 %) and Suan Suan
Ru (%% Z), while Milk Deluxe (f#%), Future Star (KAK2), Fruit Milk
Drink (22£#7) and Champion (737 #]) achieved scale of sales and rapid
growth, recording double-digit growth rates.

Gross Profit

For greater assurance of the safety and quality of milk sources, the Group
maintained its focus on increasing the proportion of milk sources provided
by ranches and scaled farms, while allocating more resources to retain
additional quality inspection staff and deploy more inspection equipment,
which led to rising costs of raw milk and quality inspection. Nevertheless,
the Group has been proactively grasping the latest trends of market
development. Efforts were made to adjust product structure and develop
high-margin products. As a result, the gross profit of the Group for the
six months ended 30 June 2013 increased to RMB5,519.2 million (2012:
RMB4,643.6 million), while gross profit margin reached 26.7%, representing
an increase of 1.2 percentage points as compared with the same period last
year.
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Operating Expenses

In the first half of 2013, the Group actively modified its strategies on
expenditures in response to market needs. Operating expenses for the
period rose to RMB4,754.2 million (2012: RMB3,880.1 million), among
which the increase in sales staff costs was mainly attributed to the expansion
of the sales network and a greater investment in sales channels. During
the period, the selling and distribution expenses of the Group increased
by 19.3% to RMB3,807.0 million (2012: RMB3,191.8 million), and its
percentage to the Group'’s revenue increased to 18.4% (2012: 17.5%).
Meanwhile, the Group continued to optimise its brand portfolio. Through
a more reasonable and efficient use of sales resources, the advertising and
promotion expenses for the period rose by 7.7% to RMB1,350.9 million
(2012: RMB1,254.3 million), and its percentage to the Group's revenue
decreased to 6.5% (2012: 6.9%). The administrative and other operating
expenses increased by 37.6% to RMB947.2 million (2012: RMB688.3
million), and its percentage to the Group’s revenue increased to 4.6%
(2012: 3.8%), mainly as a result of the rise in salary of managers and quality
inspection cost, and the agency fees incurred in relation to mergers and
acquisitions.

Profit from Operating Activities and Net Profit

Even though the rise in revenue and gross profit was partially offset by
the increase in cost and operating expenses, the Group'’s earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) during the first half
of 2013 increased to RMB1,517.4 million (2012: RMB1,287.7 million). The
EBITDA margin grew to 7.3% (2012: 7.1%).

Profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to RMB749.5
million (2012: RMB644.7 million), representing a growth of 16.3%
as compared with the same period last year. Basic earnings per share
amounted to RMB0.419 (2012: RMBO0.365), a year-on-year increase of
14.8%.

Capital Expenditure

For the six months ended 30 June 2013, the total capital expenditure (CAPEX)
of the Group amounted to RMB3,715.4 million (2012: RMB946.9 million),
a292.4% increase as compared with the same period last year. The CAPEX
for the period was mainly used in: construction of production plants and
procurement of equipment amounting to RMB839.5 million; purchase of
biological assets amounting to RMB124.1 million and acquisition project
expenses amounting to RMB2,751.8 million. The Group has adopted
a prudent policy in its CAPEX so as to lay a solid foundation for the
development of the Group.
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Working Capital, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

For the six months ended 30 June 2013, the Group's net cash inflow from
operating activities amounted to RMB2,331.6 million, an increase from
RMB1,156.5 million in the corresponding period of 2012. The increase was
primarily attributable to the enhanced management of customers’ lines of
credit given higher revenue and profit of the Group.

As of 30 June 2013, the Group's net cash (cash and bank balances net of
total bank loans) decreased to RMB3,412.4 million (31 December 2012:
RMB5,178.3 million). The decrease was primarily attributable to the Group's
acquisition of an approximately 26.92% shareholding interest in Modern
Dairy. On 13 August 2013, valid acceptances of 89.82% of Yashili's shares
have been received, of which 38.28% opted for the cash option of the
general offer, and 51.54% the cash and share option. The total cash
consideration amounted to approximately RMB8.1 billion, which will be
settled by the Group by way of loans. The related loans are sufficient to
settle the required payment.

As of 30 June 2013, the outstanding bank loans of the Group surged to
RMB3,976.7 million (31 December 2012: RMB573.8 million), of which,
bank loans of RMB814.9 million (31 December 2012: RMB93.4 million)
were fixed interest-bearing loans.

The total equity of the Group was RMB14,344.5 million as of 30 June 2013
(31 December 2012: RMB13,121.1 million), while the debt-to-equity ratio
(total bank loans over total equity) was 27.7% (31 December 2012: 4.4%).

The Group's finance costs amounted to RMB33.71 million (2012: RMB10.58
million), accounting for approximately 0.2% of the Group's revenue (2012:
0.1%).

Products

The Group has actively adjusted its product strategies and optimised its
product portfolio based on attentive monitoring and analysis of the market
situation. First of all, Mengniu has continued to develop mid to high-end
dairy products, thereby increasing the overall profitability of the Group.
Second, Mengniu has consolidated its brands. Certain best-seller sub-
brands have been extended to other product categories, thus concentrating
resources on building brands with competitive advantages. Mengniu has
also forged stronger strategic cooperation with its leading international
counterparts, in order to enhance its R&D capabilities and advance its
products to the forefront of the market.

EEES  WBEERRELRER
BEZ—=F"A=THLEREA  REEHNLE
EBELENRSFRABARE23316ET  BRZZ
—ZFREHARE N S65ELEMES - TEEASE
B A R ZFIRE D IRFHEERE E N T R P kR
BHEEI -

REBR -_T—=FXA=1tH2%RE(RE RIRT
BFRONBRIRITEFEE) TREARE34.124ETL(=ZF
—ZHF+ZA=1t—H: AR¥S1.783EL)  FHE
TR EZAHMNANEE R H R IR I L26.92% 8
HEFRS - R AEBEE—E—=F)\A+=AFA%
BEANHE LT 789.82% Ak 0 (L3828 % MR H & -

51.54% B NE S IMRNTR) - FRERNERSRELD
AREVEL  AEEGUEF A - HEERR
S B HIER K .

AEBR =T -=EXA=TAZHREERTER L
AEARE39767ET(ZE——F+-A=+—8~:

(Z2—ZF+ZA=+—0H : ARK0.934ET)1ZE

e -

AREBR-_E—ZFNAZTAZEEZAARE
143445 BT (ZE2—ZF+A=+—0: AR¥
131.211187T) » AR R (RITE AR A BE
W) R27T7%(ZE——F T ZA=1—H : 44%) °

REFNREXRNABARE3INNET(ZE——F: A
R¥1,05887T) ' i AEBRALELN02%(ZZE—=
F:01%) e

Em
REBRIBETISHERIE A ERRRE R BCEME
B B PHERRTRRILHED  BALAKEE
BAENEN : B REHYREETES - BE0H
BB FRSEREHMERER - ST ERITER
Lk - KA FINREERELI M RNBES
16 - BRTHITEERE ] - BESIRMISHER °



China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Interim Report 2013 018

Management Discussion and Analysis & ¥ & 57 & & 2 7

Mengniu's businesses mainly comprise liquid milk, ice cream and other dairy ~ ANEBEHEEEIERET - ACEK R EMIRGZ =K

products. The performance during the period is as follows:

Financial performance

ERE

Product category

ERm

AR BRI

Highlights
HREE

Key products
ERER

Liquid milk Revenue amounted to RMB18,262.5 million (2012: RMB15,963.3 miillion), accounting for 88.3% of the total
TREE revenue (2012: 87.5%)

WARARE182.625BT(ZE— =4 : AR 159.633(87T) * (544 A88.3% (=T — =% : 87.5%)
UHT milk Revenue amounted to RMB10,940.8 - A packaging upgrade on Pure Milk
UHTH million (2012: RMB9,637.2 million), Breakfast Milk and introduction ~ Milk Deluxe

accounting for 59.9% (2012: of Red Bean (AIEF&Y}) and Future Star Kid Milk

60.4%) of the liquid milk segment Black Bean Cereal Breakfast Awakening Youth Milk

revenue
WABAREE109.408(EL(=F
——%F : AR¥96.3721870) ' 1k
EEINUIAS9.9% (= F——4F :
60.4%)

Milk (BZ-FEL)). The new
products targeted students and
young white-collar workers
who appreciate high nutritional
value and mouthfeel. The new
products were well-received by
the market

BEPDEFR - WHELATE -
EZEEY > FHOEEEENA
RREEAEMFERE - TIERE
H2

Future Star (K 3 £) centered

on Future Star Milk (k62 52
Epk 445 and developed

a full set of derived products:
Miao Miao Milk (12152 Z 2]
BA#Y), Kid Yogurt (ZEK K
BEe4-475), and Kid Cheese (F2
£ ZLFK). Future Star (R3¢

£ ) was unrivalled in children’s
milk products, with continuously
expanding market share and
above average market growth
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Arla Foods Organic Pure Milk
AEY)
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Product category Financial performance Highlights Key products

Emmi FIERE HAEE EREm

—  Cooperation with Arla Foods to
introduce organic whole milk,
low-fat milk and fat-free milk

— EiArla Foods& EHEH A% 25
447y ARRE AN R B RE A

—  Milk Deluxe (5 #%) was
awarded “Gold Award of Dairy
Product” at the 7th BioFach
China, the largest organic food
trade fair in Asia

— AR MR ER AR B
RmESEeELEPBIER
FHER MBE S (BioFach China)

FEREmeiE]
Milk beverages Revenue amounted to R\MB4,732.1 — The introduction of the popular ~ Suan Suan Ru
2B million (2012: RMB3,993.9 million), Fruit Fiber Suan Suan Ru (£ Fruit Milk Drink
accounting for 25.9% (2012: 25%) AR Z]) and achieved Latte
of the liquid milk segment revenue satisfactory sales performance Yoyi C
WABAREEAT 321BL(=F — WLRERRZ  HERE B
—=F : AR¥39.939(E7T) ' {h B
REEURA25.9% ( —F——4F : - Enhancement of cartoon i
25%) elements into the packaging of ~ &zC

Miao Miao Milk (#2#247), with
huge success in attracting kids'
attention and stimulating sales
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Product category Financial performance Highlights Key products
Emm MERE HARE) @ EMEM
Yogurt Revenue amounted to RMB2,589.6 - Launch of a high-end product Champion
i million (2012: RMB2,332.2 million), Just UHT Yogurt (442, & Just Yogurt
accounting for 14.2% (2012: JEEEAF), produced with Future Star Kid Yogurt
14.6%) of the liquid milk segment advanced Danish technology Junlebao
revenue and fermented with quality Yaredh
WA BAREE25.8%6(EL(ZF lactobacillus to realise Forg
— =4 ARB23322(E7T) (L preservation of yogurt at room  KHKE T EAL LKL
TREEIIA14.2%(—F——4F : temperature. It is a product Fithe
14.6%) from a quality milk source in
a simple and pure formula
without additives, artificial color
or preservatives
e SInE Al B i R
7} - SRR R ERITAEE
WEEE - BER SRR
7 o MBE YRR S48 F
Bl - EANER  BF -
B B Al
Ice cream Revenue amounted to RMB1,954.4 A packaging upgrade of Deluxe  Deluxe
TCGE M million (2012: RMB2,158.3 million), (358 =) and launch of mid Mood for Green
accounting for 9.5% (2012: 11.8%) to high-end Deluxe Vanilla Ice- Ice+
of the Group's total revenue cream Sandwich (BTEZ =87 HHEEZ
WA BAREE19 5448 (= F FEOBKIH), the firstice-  ARELVE
——fF : ARE215831E5) 1k cream sandwich product created &+

NEE B AIS%(ZFE——
F:11.8%)

in the PRC, grabbing market
share in the rapidly developing
mid to high-end ice-cream
market

BREZBER - KHEHRF
SnE R EE =5 B E LK
AKEH - REINERIHN =5
PREDHWEE RS - 1RGSR R
S uh KM TT5

Launch of Mood for Green

Ice Crystal Cup GREELMET
JK#7FF), which is made with
pioneering “Ice Crystal”
(#kk#iI) technology in the PRC
HELAR B OMEIARIFR - EESR
RABBAERIE fkRL [ty
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Product category Financial performance Highlights Key products
Emm MERE HREE BERER
Other dairy Revenue amounted to RMB451.0 — Introduction of Arla Foods Baby & Me
products million (2012: RMB122.3 million), premium organic pediatric MENGNIU ARLA
HtP R accounting for 2.2% (2012: 0.7%) formula Baby & Me Kids Cheese Sticks
of the Group's total revenue — 5| AArla Foods Baby & MejiBis;  Baby & Me
WARARKEASI0ET(ZE—= i 4) BT A Bt R
F AR®12231B7T) - thA & SEEEEHEALIE

B2 B A22%(ZE——4
0.7%)

Mengniu’s products, including Pure Milk ¢¢4-473), Low Fat High Calcium
Milk (1Ef6=#5447) and Milk Deluxe ((##%) were sold in Hong Kong,
Macau, Mongolia and Singapore. During the period, all markets recorded
stable growth.

Production

Aligned production capacity with market potential and product strategies,
Mengniu has set up 28 production bases across the country with a total
production capacity of 7.59 million tonnes as of June 2013 (December
2012: 7.58 million tonnes).

Social Responsibility

In line with its strong belief of “growing with the communities with a
thankful heart”, Mengniu has been taking an active part in shouldering its
social responsibility by arranging and participating in a number of charitable
activities during the period. In this way it can actively contribute to the
communities and to promote social harmony and sustainable development.

In response to the earthquake in Ya’an, Sichuan, Mengniu has fully
cooperated with the local government in disaster relief by promptly
delivering relief supplies to the disaster zone. Within three hours after the
earthquake, it had dispatched 2,000 cartons of milk and 2,000 cartons
of Suan Suan Ru (B#%%Z]), and subsequently donated RMB10 million in
cash and 10,000 cartons of milk. Mengniu had also sent 44 volunteers to
participate in relief work at the front line.

For two consecutive years, Mengniu has organised a large-scale charitable
campaign “Looking for the Most Beautiful Teachers in Rural Areas”, which
was intended to raise awareness of rural education among society. Utilising
Mengniu's charity blog at Weibo as the platform, this activity helped spread
the message of love and happiness on the Internet. Through this powerful
promotion platform, Mengniu attracted considerable attention from the
society.

SAERE ORP A AINRETS ETHEER
BAAEFY) - BREES T R ma - IR BTigR
RERSRIER

E

ST REMSE N RERMKEGRER B#E2=-2—=
FRA - EFREEEREEEEM2SE - S REEA
759BME( =T ——F+=F : 7588MF) °

HEEE

MR OERE - BAEMERRAKE INES &
F-BREAEMEELE  RBERNRRABNR2ET S
AR - BROELE - HEH S MG E A A
IR o

o)l R ER - REERNESEHBUTRERE T
15 MRFARKEDEZ LR o LETR =K B2
#H2,00086 5 13F12,000/88 5% 7 - BERBIBHE AR
1,000 7T @ 12 10,000#8 443 - VA KR 4482 5REE
TERTARS B THE

SAEESE —FAB SHEREMBNHED IRB AR
B URSIHSHANBE EENT < BBUARER
@MIBATE  EEMELERE RS - EBNiER
ANEBNE  EBEHENEZET -
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Mengniu has been conveying its warmth and energy not only in China, but
also on the international stage. The Little Peace Messengers of Mengniu's
“Future Stars Club” (KR 28R HKIELEER) paid a visit to the United
Nations’ headquarter and expressed the goodwill greetings of the Chinese
New Year and the children’s wish for world peace.

Mengniu continued to make each and every effort for spreading happiness
across the society, including the launch of a large-scale charitable activity
“Carbon Reduction with Forest Wood” (Bix[E#K), a re-forestation project
for planting seedlings on the Plantation Day. In another activity, Mengniu
organised volunteers to donate 100,000 ml of blood in a month in memory
of model worker Lei Feng. Mengniu also raised funds to help migrant
workers return to their home during the Chinese New Year holiday, in
order to bring their children’s dreams to life. Mengniu's efforts have gained
widespread recognition from various sectors across the society. During
the period, Mengniu was honored as the “Enterprise with the Greatest
Dedication to Charitable Activities in Shaanxi in 2012"”, and also garnered
the “Award for Love and Care for People in Poverty in 2012” by the China
Foundation for Poverty Alleviation.

Human Resources

On 30 June 2013, the Group had a total of approximately 32,000
employees in Mainland China and Hong Kong. Total staff costs for the
period (excluding the emoluments of directors and senior executives)
amounted to approximately RMB1,363.1 million (2012: RMB877.6 miillion).

The Group believes that the dedicated efforts of all of its employees are
the very essence of Mengniu’s rapid development and success in the
future. Thus, the Board of Directors has adopted a restricted share award
scheme on 26 March 2013. Through the grant of restricted shares to the
core management team and outstanding employees at all levels, Mengniu
will share the fruits of its business development with its employees and
core management, directly linking the interests of employees and core
management with those of the Group and its shareholders. With this share
award scheme, employees and core management can create higher value
for the Group, thus raising the sustainable development of the Group to
new heights. This share award scheme spans over five years. No more
than 5% of the shares in the issued share capital of the Company are
to be purchased for the purpose of this scheme. In each year during the
period of the plan, approximately 3,000 outstanding employees and core
management are to be selected and granted restricted shares on the basis
of fair, impartial, open and transparent assessment.

SATEETRERREEE - BERRZAEREAR
RIEIFIE - R RREG RRRIALER AT/ MEH
HETE S B - FE T hERENFERR AR
A HILE o

SETEA—H—RNERAM EWREBERE - 818
B BREA KB AR EM TR - TEENIEEE e
ARSI ERELEEARMIOBZT - EENRAEI
WERTIEZBE  BERTFREIZSE - RANE N
BEHesREzRn  BRRE — T —REsA
B RmAE | WEPEKREESERRHE —FT——
FREKEE O] -

ABNER

RZZE—=FXA=+H AEERFERERESEE
HEEFE B4932,00007 - HiNEB LKA (TRIFES
EEfTBRABME) AARKI13.631EL(ZE—=
& AR¥8.776/87L) °

AEERE - R RROREER LK EESNS )
SO ANBEEFERN T =F=A -+ BEMN
PRI A R EE Rt & - BB L ERER R SRES
BIRTRHIMERS  BEESRZUEIEEBKRENF?

BERERKR - BEENMZODEREKRE B HMRERE
BMBERN R EEEME - BERZOEREKERHEE
BEEE - RAKBEEERESEE  EPAEENSE
TR o BEFTEAHES - ARRBIRITEIBE T
B ASH) 5% AR AR UL AR 8 - AR BIEANEF
PIEH3,000BFE T RZOERERKE - RAYF
RIE ~ AR - BRNRARFRAMERE -
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Outlook

In the first half of 2013, the Chinese government has introduced a
number of policies to rectify the dairy industry, including the increase in
the concentration of the domestic dairy industry through encouragement
of mergers and acquisitions, the rectification of production licenses and
examination of record filing of raw materials of formula, as well as anti-
monopoly investigation on imported products. This series of measures
should accelerate industry consolidation, in which more than one-third
of the small players in the market are expected to be eliminated from the
milk formula industry. This process is conducive to the long-term healthy
development of the industry, and also gives rise to enormous opportunities
for leading enterprises such as Mengniu. According to management
consulting firm McKinsey, the dairy products market in the PRC is expected
to reach a size of RMB350 billion in the coming five years, with a compound
annual growth rate of up to 12%. The dairy industry in the PRC provides
immense room for development.

As an industry leader, Mengniu will seize the market opportunities and
take full advantage of the synergies resulting from the cooperation with
Arla Foods, Danone Group and Yashili, with a vision to further expand
Mengniu’s yogurt and milk formula businesses. The Group will work
intensively to advance in three directions, which are achieving organic
growth, opening up new sales channels and developing imported products.
Moving forward, Mengniu will accelerate the development of high
potential milk formula business and chilled dairy business by building on the
innovative technology and abundant experience of its strategic partners,
while striving to strengthen its liquid milk business. With the ongoing rise
in China’s per capita disposable income, the consumption trend is heading
towards the high-end. Mengniu will capture this market development trend
by raising the proportion of its mid to high-end products and offering a
wide range of innovative products that satisfy consumers’ tastes through
product differentiation.

In connection with the enhancement of its internal system, Mengniu will
continue to optimise the management over quality and safety. The Group
will also strengthen efforts to build milk sources, integrate sales channels
and improve its information systems, so as to support its rapid development.
In relation to the strategic cooperation with external parties, Mengniu will
vigorously forge strong business connections with its strategic partners to
create complementary advantages and synergies. Mengniu will extend its
business into a comprehensive industry chain vertically and a wide array of
products horizontally, thereby reinforcing its top-notch leadership in the
industry. Mengniu will dedicate every effort to fulfill its commitment to
consumers, and strive to becoming a dairy enterprise that delivers products
of the best quality and in the most professional and devoted manner in
China, so as to turn Mengniu into a century-old enterprise.

B

ZE-=F LT FEBTEHEBORREILE - &
REBRUEEUESREANILEETE BELES
A RE A RS WEOERETRENATS
— RIS IR TR BB S ARNERR - TSR =5
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MSREEED AR 5008 FEAEERAE
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E - HE— SRS RN ER - NEBEE]
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Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company has
the pleasure in submitting the interim report together with the unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the six months ended 30 June 2013 (“interim
financial statements”).

Interim Dividend

The Directors do not recommend the payment of an interim dividend for
the six months ended 30 June 2013 (six months ended 30 June 2012: nil)
and propose that the profit for the period be retained.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures

As at 30 June 2013, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company and their respective associates in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO")) as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as
follows:

ARRER(EFDE(EFEDMARZEP R
& BRARBAREFAR(GHE AR DEE—F
—=FANAZTRIEANE ARG EZERGRA FEHR
R ([P HB TR

RIS
EETREREHE T FAASTELEAEAY
PHRE(BE-F——FXA=TEILNER @)
BEHRABARF -

EERERTHABRKEND - BRSO K
AR 2 R RAR
R-F—=FAA=+A  FAAEEREEITHAE
R& A ZMBATRAD A RAAREE (EEREFR
SR 1M ([ 385 I B ) ) SEXVD) 2 IR - ARRAAR
HREEET - FAAEDAEREES RESEAE
32HEREFENELMAZ ESRAR - FRE LD
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Long positions in the shares of the Company/Associated Corporation (not AR &)/ FHESEBERD 2 178 (T REREA QRS
including options granted under the Company's share option scheme): it B T R ARAE)

Company/Name of

Percentage of

the Company's/

Associated

Corporation’s

Issued

Share Capital®

Total Number of CE NP )

Name of Director  Associated Corporation Nature of Interest Ordinary Shares EEERIT
EEpE NG )7 Bt RERME EiERAE RAK B 2 o
Bai Ying The Company Personal Interest 603,209 (L) 0.03%
S ZA/NG]| B AR
Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy Personal Interest 448,201 (L) 0.03%
(Group) Company Limited B A
("Inner Mongolia Mengniu”)
REGELSIESE LD )
BRARTARTRSD
Note: F3E

(1) The total issued shares of the Company as at 30 June 2013 was 1,820,943,568. (1) RZ-ZE—=FXA=+H AQARZETRHERA

() Indicates a long position.

1,820,943, 5681 °

L RTHE -

Certain Directors of the Company have been granted options under the  ARRETESIRIEADE 2 BIERT EER B -
Company's share option scheme, details of which are set out in the section  FFIB®EH T X[ BERHEA S —6&f ©

“Share Option Scheme” below.

B!

| S
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Saved as disclosed above and as set out in the section “Share Option
Scheme” below, as at 30 June 2013, none of the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company and their respective associates had any interests
and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register of the Company required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests

As at 30 June 2013, the interests or short positions of substantial
shareholders, other than the Directors or the chief executive of the Company
whose interests and short positions in the shares of the Company and of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) are set
out above, in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be maintained under Section 336 of the SFO were
as follows:

TERRME BB

Name of Substantial Shareholder

B EX R T X Bkt 8| — B EEN  R=F
—=FAAZTR ARAFBREERTIBETBRAERS
BZBMBATRARR RERABER(ERRESF R
HIBGRDIEXVER) 2 Bk tn - BRI ) R ERERET
BHASDERBE S M GRDIE3521RREFER
BACHA - SAREIREST RIZB RS AN A RIS P2 1

AR -

EFRERED

RIZE—=FXA=1H  REEFMAGEHIFE336
GREFE 2 ECMALE  TZRR(RARREE
1HE A B (E & BB SR IRGIFEXVER) BB A0 o Pk
BORGELABEN EXEINARREER TR TR
ABBIMNRAR RN RAARR D R ERTORR
s

Percentage of
the Company'’s

COFCO Corporation RisEEAR AR

COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited ISR (BH)BRAR

Farwill Limited Farwill Limited

COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited
COFCO Dairy Investments Limited COFCO Dairy Investments Limited
Prominent Achiever Limited Bi#EBRAT

Arla Foods Amba Arla Foods Amba

Danone SA Danone SA

Danone Asia Pte Ltd
Commonwealth Bank of Australia

Danone Asia Pte Ltd
Commonwealth Bank of Australia

Issued

Share Capital®

Number of o N
Ordinary Shares BRTRAE
ZERHE ADEe
496,014,022 (L) 27.24%
495,614,022 (@O 27.22%
495,614,022 (L)® 27.22%
495,614,022 (L)@@ 27.22%
347,600,000 (L) 19.09%
495,614,022 (L)® 27.22%
495,614,022 (L)@ 27.22%
495,614,022 (L)® 27.22%
495,614,022 (L)® 27.22%
159,813,821 (L) 8.78%
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Notes:

o

COFCO Corporation is deemed interested in an aggregate of 496,014,022
shares in the Company, comprising (a) 495,614,022 shares in the Company
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited and
(b) 400,000 shares in the Company through another of its wholly-owned
subsidiary, COFCO (BVI) Limited. COFCO (BVI) Limited is deemed interested in
400,000 shares in the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO
(BVI) No. 9 Limited.

COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited is deemed interested in 495,614,022 shares in
the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Farwill Limited.

Pursuant to various agreements dated 15 June 2012 and 28 June 2013 which
constitute agreements under sections 317 and 318 of the SFO, COFCO (Hong
Kong) Limited, Farwill Limited, COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited, Prominent
Achiever Limited, Arla Foods amba, Danone Asia Pte Ltd are deemed interested
in an aggregate of 495,614,022 shares in the Company.

Of the 495,614,022 shares in the Company, COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited is
deemed interested in 347,600,000 shares through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
COFCO Dairy investments Limited.

Danone SA is deemed interested in 495,614,022 shares in the Company
through its 71.58% owned subsidiary, Danone Asia Pte Ltd.

The total issued shares of the Company as at 30 June 2013 was 1,820,943,568.

Indicates a long position.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2013, no other interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company were recorded
in the register maintained under Section 336 of the SFO.

Report of the Directors EE &k

B3 -

(1) FIEEEBRQGEEARARFE 496,014,022
Rp AR BT EEQFEREEENBARTIE
EEH(FB)BRARINARR495,614,022 3% 817 & (b)
BRHE S —2 &M B2 FICOFCO (BVI) Limited A A F]
400,000/% % 1) R #E B #E25 © COFCO (BVI) Limited#4% 4
EIBE 2 EMIE /A RICOFCO (BVI) No. 9 Limited A A A
400,000f% %15 R B s ©

Q FREREE(FB)ERARNEEAERBEZENBAR
Farwill Limited /A2 2 R1495,614,022 A% A (7 A 12 o

Q) WEBHA-_Z——FA+RABR=ZZT—=FA
ZHNBzEWhih®E(ZERRERES KRGS
7GR ENSIEFTRE 2 k) - PIREE(EA) AR
727] ~ Farwill Limited ~ COFCO Dairy Holdings Limited + B
EABMRATF - Arla Foods amba * Danone Asia Pte Ltd#§4%
A HAANAF495,614,0228 B AN R B 125 ©

@ AR R]495,614,022[% A% {5 - COFCO Dairy Holdings
Limited # 1% 7 & i H 2 & W B 2 7 COFCO Dairy
Investments Limited /5 347,600,000% i {7 2 #E2% °

(5)  Danone SA%AR AiEBHIEST71.58%HI[1/E A 7]Danone
Asia Pte LtdA AN F1495,614,022 A% (D ch A 1S

©® R-E-=FRA=1H ARFEBTROHLEES
1,820,943,5687% ©
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Share Option Scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group'’s operations. The following share

028

options were outstanding under the Scheme during the period:

Asat

1 January

2013
R-%-=

-A-H

Name or Category of
Participant
SRELRARG

Executive directors
HiTES
Bai Ying 1,840,000
BB
3,210,000
3,200,000
Wu Jingshui 1,100,000
REK
1,500,000
2,400,000

Number of share options

RREHE

Exercised
during
the period
HmATE

(1,840,000)

(1,100,000)

(900,000)

Asat

Lapsed 30 June
during 2013
the period R=F—=F
BMRX®  AA=TH

(1,284,000 1,926,000
- 3,200,000
(600,000) -
- 2,400,000

SERERT S
ARATRG BB B ((5181)) - At A %E
EBRNAERZ S AR REFHBDREE - 5
7 - ST RIRARI T Z AR T -

Date of
grant of
share options
RinikE
A

18.8.2008
“2F/\FNATNA

2311.2009
“FENFT-AZTER

10.10.2011
“2—%+A+H

18.8.2008
“ZZN\F/\AT/\R

23.11.2009
“EENF+-A=1+=H

10.10.2011
“Z—%+A+H

Exercise period of
share options

(both dates inclusive)
SRR T AR
(BREEEMX)

18820100 17.8.2014"

e L AATIGES
“E-WENATER

23.11.2011022.11.20152

“2—F+-A-t+=RZE
“E-RFt+—A=t=Re

10.10.2015109.10.2018%

“FT-RFTATRE

- /\F AL
18.8.201010 17.8.2014

“B-TFNATNAE

ZE-MENATERD
23.11.20111022.11.20152

“FFT-ACT=REE
B T g By =
10.10.2015109.10.20189

“T-nFtATHEZE
ZZ-\E+ANBS

Exercise
price of
share
options
BRE
T8
HKS$
BT

22.03

2440

24.10

22.03

2440

2410
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Number of share options
BREHA
Exercise
Asat Asat Date of Exercise period of price of
1 January Exercised Lapsed 30June grant of share options share
Name or Category of 2012 during during 2012 share options (both dates inclusive) options
Participant R-ZE—Z-f  theperiod theperiod R=Z-——F RHEKRE BT B
SRELRARG —-A-H Hm{TE MR%i%  ~A=tA AH (BREERMR) T8
HKS
BT
Ding Sheng 1,150,000 (1,150,000) - - 1882008 188201010 17.8.20141 22.03
T2 “ER\ENAHAR ZE-EE\AHNRE
ZE-MENATLAD
1,800,000 (1,080,000) (720,000) - 23.11.2009 23.11.2011 10 22.11.20152 2440
“ETHhE+—A-+tZR —T—%t+-A-1+=RZE
S TR s ey el =
3,200,000 - - 3,200,000 10.102011 10.10.2015t09.10.20182 2410
“E—FtATE CE-BFHATEE
—E-\E+ANRY
Employees in 33200904  (29,961,765) - 3239139 1882008 188201010 17.8.20141 22.03
Aggregate —ZENENATNR “2-ZE\ATN\HZE
RaMs —Z-WENATERAO
61,787,395  (16,195091)  (32452,359) 13,139,945 23.11.2009 23.11.2011 10 22.11.20152 2440
“ETHNE+—A-tZR —F—Ft+-A=1+=RZ
“Z-RFt-A-tzRe
4,070,000 (484,000)  (1,668,0000 1,918,000 6.122010 6.12.2012t05.12.20162 2280
“E-TETARA “TCHY-AREE
T RETZARAY
44,200,000 - - 44,200,000 10.10.2011 10.10.2015t09.10.2018% 24.10
“F3-£tATE C2-RFTATEE
- \FtAARY
162,658299  (52,710,856)% (36,724,359) 73,223,084
&
. 0 N
0V @ \\; '
=
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Notes:

(1) The share options will be vested in two equal batches with 50% of the share
options granted vesting on the second and third anniversaries of the date of
grant. In addition, the share options will only be vested if and when the pre-set
performance targets of the Group, the division of the grantee and the grantee
are achieved. Unless all of these targets are met, the share options will lapse.

(2)  The share options will be vested in three batches with 20%, 40% and 40% of
the share options granted vesting on, respectively, the second, third and fourth
anniversaries of the date of the grant. In addition, the share options will only be
vested if and when the pre-set performance targets of the Group, the division
of the grantee and the grantee are achieved. Unless all of these targets are met,
the share options will lapse.

(3)  The share options will be vested in two equal batches with 50% of the share
options granted vesting on the fourth and fifth anniversaries of the date of the
grant. In addition, the share options will only be vested if and when the pre-set
performance targets of the Group, the division of the grantee and the grantee
are achieved. Unless all of these targets are met, the share options will lapse.

(4)  The weighted average closing price of the shares of the Company immediately
before the dates on which the options were exercised was HK$25.23.

During the six months ended 30 June 2013, no share options were granted
under the Scheme.

During the reporting period, the Board resolved to adopt a restricted share
award scheme and granted 17,569,400 restricted shares in the Company
to selected participants, including Directors, senior management, heads of
departments, other employees and distributors of the Group. Under the
grant, 8,425,800 restricted shares were granted to Ms. Sun Yiping, the
Chief Executive Officer and executive Director of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the reporting period was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company or their respective associates
to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company or any other body corporate.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive (including
their spouses and children under the age of 18) during the six months ended
30 June 2013, held any interest in, or were granted any right to subscribe
for, the securities of the Company and its associated corporations within the
meaning of the SFO, or had exercised any such rights.

GEE
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Foreign Currency Risk

The Group's businesses are principally located in the Mainland China and
substantially all transactions are conducted in RMB, except for the purchases
of imported machinery and equipment and sales of dairy products to Hong
Kong and Macau. As at 30 June 2013, substantially all of the Group’s assets
and liabilities were denominated in RMB except the cash and bank balances
of approximately RMB4,366,000 (31 December 2012: RMB327,503,000),
RMB268,668,000 (31 December 2012: RMB12,565,000) and RMB22,000
(31 December 2012: RMB23,000) which were denominated in United
States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Euros respectively, the interest-
bearing bank loans of approximately RMB1,501,591,000 (31 December
2012: RMB405,425,000) and RMB2,350,111,000 (31 December 2012:
RMB38,852,000) which were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
United States dollars, respectively and long term payables of approximately
RMB53,786,000 (31 December 2012: RMB79,867,000) which were
denominated in United States dollars. Management has set up procedures
to periodically review and monitor the foreign currency risk exposure.

Pledge of Assets

As at 30 June 2013, the Group has pledged certain bank deposits, bills
receivable, land use rights and certain property, plant and equipment
aggregating to approximately RMB777,584,000 (31 December 2012:
RMB347,306,000). Details are set out in the respective notes to the interim
financial statements.

Contingent Liabilities and Capital Commitments
Details of contingent liabilities and capital commitments are set out in Notes
36 and 37, respectively, to the interim financial statements.

Change in Information of Directors

Mr. Yu Xubo, a non-executive Director and Vice-Chairman of the Company,
has been appointed as a non-executive director and the chairman of the
board of directors of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd., a company listed
on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), with effect from 28 June 2013. In addition, Mr. Yu resigned
as the chairman of the board of directors of COFCO Meat Investment
Company Limited, with effect from 9 August 2013.

Mr. Julian Juul Wolhardt, an independent non-executive Director of the
Company ceased to be the chairman of the board of directors of China
Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd., a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, with effect from 28 June 2013.

Mr. Ding Sheng, an executive Director of the Company, has been appointed
as a non-executive director of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd., a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, with effect from 28 June
2013.

Report of the Directors EE &k
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Mr. Liu Fuchun, an independent non-executive Director of the Company,
has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of China
Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd., a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, with effect from 28 June 2013.

Ms. Sun Yiping, the chief executive officer and an executive Director of
the Company, has been appointed as a non-executive director and the
chairman of the board of directors of Yashili International Holdings Ltd, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, with effect from 24 July 2013. Mr.
Ding Sheng and Mr. Wu Jingshui, both executive Directors of the Company,
have been appointed as non-executive directors of Yashili International
Holdings Ltd, a company listed on the Stock Exchange, all with effect from
24 July 2013.

Mr. MA Jianping, a non-executive Director of the Company, was appointed
as the chairman of the board of directors of COFCO Meat Investment
Company Limited, with effect from 9 August 2013.

Corporate Governance

The Company is dedicated to ensure high standards of corporate
governance with an emphasis on a diligent Board, sound internal control,
and increasing transparency and accountability to shareholders. The Board
acknowledges that good corporate governance practices and procedures
are beneficial to the Group and its shareholders.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code during the period (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of corporate governance
practices.

The annual general meeting of the Company was held on 7 June
2013 ("AGM"). Due to unavoidable business engagements and other
commitments outside of Hong Kong, ten Directors (two executive Directors,
five non-executive Directors (including the Chairman) and three independent
non-executive Directors)) were unable to attend the AGM.

Seven Directors (two executive Directors (including the Chief Financial
Officer), two non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors (including the chairman of the audit committee)) attended the
AGM and they were available in person for answering questions from
shareholders and investors at the “Questions and Answers” session of the
AGM.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance practices and is
satisfied that the Company has been in compliance with all applicable code
provisions of the CG Code during the six months ended 30 June 2013, save
as disclosed in this interim report.
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Board of Directors

As at the date of this interim report, the Board currently comprises four
Executive Directors, namely, Ms. Sun Yiping, Mr. Bai Ying, Mr. Wu Jingshui
and Mr. Ding Sheng; seven Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ning
Gaoning, Mr. Yu Xubo, Mr. Niu Gensheng, Mr. Ma Jianping, Mr. Tim @rting
Jargensen, Mr. Finn S. Hansen and Ms. Liu Ding; and six Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Jiao Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), Mr. Julian Juul
Wolhardt, Mr. Liu Fuchun, Mr. Zhang Xiaoya, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan and Mr.
Wu Kwok Keung Andrew.

Securities Transactions of Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of conduct and rules governing
dealings by all Directors in the securities of the Company. The Directors have
confirmed, following specific enquiries by the Company, that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout
the six months ended 30 June 2013.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s
Listed Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company's listed securities during the six months ended 30
June 2013, except that the professional trustee of the restricted share award
scheme, pursuant to the rules of the Scheme has, purchased on the open
market a total of 6,256,000 shares of the Company at a total consideration
of approximately RMB131.8 million on trust for the purpose of the restricted
share award scheme.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises four Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wu Kwok Keung Andrew (chairman), Mr. Jiao
Shuge (alias Jiao Zhen), Mr. Liu Fuchun and Mr. Zhang Xiaoya. The Audit
Committee has reviewed with the Company’s management and the
external auditors, the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Company and discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting
matters, including the review of the Group’s unaudited interim financial
statements for the six months ended 30 June 2013.

Investor Relations and Communications

The Company adopts a proactive policy in promoting investor relations and
communications. Regular meetings are held with institutional investors and
financial analysts to ensure two-way communications on the Company’s
performance and development.

By order of the Board

Sun Yiping
Chief Executive Officer & Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 August 2013

Report of the Directors EE &k

o=y

RAFRERE 2 B - EERAENURITES 5
RBHEEZL  ABSE - REKEERTBEELE
HAIENITEE - DRIAERELLE - FRKLAE -
HARAESA ~ BEFILAE - Tim Qrting Jargensenft 4
Finn S.Hansense £ RMI T 22+ + KRB IENITE
F - DRIAFBE(XEHERE) LA - Julian Juul Wolhardt
St BIEEST A - REEDR A - B AR
o

EENRFRS

AR BB LR A 0PT# 2 REFRIRHREAR
RABEESETARRERRZSHHNITRATRIFIRL -
HITAEREHEEMER - AR RERNEEENE
BT -=FRA=THIENEARN—EETIRESTR
ZIRTEZER o

BE - HEFEEARF LHES

PR 6V AR R R B B R ARIRZ AT 28R
A AREHARE 13188 A T RHIMEE 12E)
SEIERFERELAFAMISE A S $£6,256,0000 KA
FIRMIN  ARRSKHARMMBATNEE=S—=F
ANAZTHIERNEARNEEE - BESEEARAGTE
Al EEES o

BREES

ERZEERBERNEEIIFMTES - DRI RHE
SRIEE(ERE)  EHM(XEER) L FRELER
REEDAL - BREE S0 BEARREERE RIMIZE
BhEBIA R RRMH G SRR BB - WATREZ - A
MERERMEHRESEE  HPeREHLASERE_F
—=FRNA=TALINE ARG EE T PR -

REERERIEEE
AATHREEBRR R BIRAEBELEEE - A2
FIRE HAB IR A B RATIS AT BR(TRE - DARBIRAL
ARRFMFER R ERESEANERE -

AEFEW

B

B8 —ET—=F\H=+/\H



China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Interim Report 2013 034

Independent Review Report
B ER RS

s
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To the Board of Directors
China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited

Ernst & Young
22nd Floor

CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2846 9888
Fax: +852 2868 4432
Www.ey.com

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Introduction

We have reviewed the interim financial information set out on pages 36
to 88, which comprises the condensed consolidated statement of financial
position of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2013 and the related condensed consolidated
statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and
cash flows for the six-month period then ended, and explanatory notes.
The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited require the preparation of a report on interim financial
information to be in compliance with the relevant provisions thereof and
International Accounting Standard 34 “Interim Financial Reporting” (“IAS
34") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The directors
of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of this
interim financial information in accordance with IAS 34. Our responsibility
is to express a conclusion on this interim financial information based on our
review. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report.

Scope of Review

We conducted our review in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Review Engagements 2410 “Review of Interim Financial Information
Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. A review of interim financial
information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for
financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review
procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing and consequently
does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all
significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do
not express an audit opinion.
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Conclusion

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to
believe that the accompanying interim financial information is not prepared,
in all material respects, in accordance with IAS 34.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
28 August 2013
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Condensed Consolidated Income Statement
B4 & B

Unaudited
RASEEX
For the six months ended 30 June
BZEAA=1THLANER
2013 2012
—E—=5F —T——4F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR%TR ARETIT
Restated*
FEE R
Revenue LN 4 20,667,981 18,243,824
Cost of sales THERA (15,148,827) (13,600,271)
Gross profit EF 5,519,154 4,643,553
Other income and gains E AU A R ez 4 129,636 108,435
Gain arising from changes in fair value less cost  ZLAA R EE B IHE
to sell of dairy cows FRANEE A Ui 14 13,087 =
Selling and distribution costs HEREHBA (3,806,962) (3,191,812)
Administrative expenses ITHE R (809,531) (563,449)
Other operating expenses Hihe a8 5 (137,680) (124,860)
Profit from operating activities R 2R RIS 907,704 871,867
Interest income FLEUA 132,423 101,774
Finance costs &R AR 7 (33,714) (10,581)
Share of profits and losses of associates FE(EE AT K
and joint ventures BEDENERER 29,651 (60,470)
Profit before tax HATFE 6 1,036,064 902,590
Income tax expense FriSfisz i 8 (185,684) (154,678)
Profit for the period ZHEAFE 850,380 747,912
Attributable to: AT & T A
Owners of the Company VNG ZSUN 749,494 644,690
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR R 100,886 103,222
850,380 747,912
Earnings per share attributable to ordinary RABEBIES A
equity holders of the Company FE(EBARET
(expressed in RMB per share) (LAFRE AERBETTET) 9
— Basic —EK 0.419 0.365
— Diluted —#8 0.419 0.365

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the period are disclosed in
Note 10 to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

*

Certain amounts stated above do not correspond to the interim condensed

consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2012 but reflect the

adjustments made as described in Note 34.

AREAREA A B R SRR MTRE 10 3R -

* PETEEGAHE—T——FA=+TRZHHEE
BRERAMTSIRER - MERARFEE34PmIt < P {EZTEE -
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FRFE 2 E R &SR

Unaudited
RESER
For the six months ended 30 June
BZEAA=1THLEAER
2013
2=
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARETT
Restated™
&>
Profit for the period ZNHA R 850,380 747,912
Other comprehensive income Hit2mEE
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified RIX BB EF 72 R
to profit or loss in subsequent periods: B2 EKE -
Available-for-sale investments: AMERERSE -
Changes in fair value N EEE (98,334) 26,409
Income tax effect Fristisse 33,051 (4,804)
(65,283) 21,605
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations # &GN FSHIME H =58 (67,543) 23,982

Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified AUEHREHSETEE >
to profit or loss in subsequent periods Hitb 2w HE (132,826) 45,587

Net other comprehensive income not being RUAHBTEER I EER
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods %5 > Hth 2S48 = =

Other comprehensive income, net of tax Hit 2@ - HBRHBIE (132,826) 45,587
Total comprehensive income for the period, HRZEREAEE » HRBIE
net of tax 717,554 793,499
Attributable to: A& T REfh -
Owners of the Company KATHREEA 616,668 689,310
Non-controlling interests JEFERR AR R 100,886 104,189
717,554 793,499

*  Certain amounts stated above do not correspond to the interim condensed ~ *  FHtETEEVAHE_Z——FXA=+H2TH
consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2012 but reflect the FERRAR S BTSSR - MERBRMTSE34RTil 2 FT{EREE o
adjustments made as described in Note 34.
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
B R 4R & BTG AR N 3R

Unaudited Audited
REEX 1z
30 June 2013 31 December 2012
—E-=F —E——F
ANAB=tH +=ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARETIT
Restated*
g
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE

Property, plant and equipment YIEE - R MRS 1" 8,160,671 7,739,259
Construction in progress HERETE 12 765,478 596,812
Land use rights T b A 803,635 801,191
Long term prepayments RHEFBAER 20 296,497 299,947
Goodwill e 13 747,351 482,436
Biological assets HEYERE 14 398,676 211,686
Other intangible assets Hihmp &= 239,696 224,228
Investments in associates REEERTZ2I8E 15 2,763,406 77,921
Available-for-sale investments AR ERE 16 295,545 509,788
Deferred tax assets ELERIBEE 57,342 72,093
Other financial assets HitemEE 52,173 53,521
14,580,470 11,068,882

CURRENT ASSETS TEEE
Available-for-sale investments Al ERE 16 = 240,000
Inventories Eay 17 1,385,658 1,362,673
Bills receivable FEU R 18 272,972 172,596
Trade receivables FEURBER 19 867,165 683,112
Prepayments and deposits BNR KRS 20 1,058,306 947,966
Other receivables HippElzIE 293,491 477,022
Investment deposits WEFR 21 850,000 160,000
Pledged deposits REEFX 22 444,823 51,602
Cash and bank balances R NMIRTT4ETE 22 7,389,036 5,752,041
12,561,451 9,847,012

CURRENT LIABILITIES wREaE
Trade payables FEFTBRR 23 3,499,210 2,332,550
Bills payable FERT IR 24 993,468 1,296,910
Deferred income IR s 19,389 19,056
Other payables H BT FIE 25 2,349,161 1,575,266
Accruals and customers’ deposits JEIRBAMEFR® 26 914,004 975,645
Interest-bearing bank loans SHESRITER 27 3,957,676 573,777
Other loans HMEHK 28 33,187 24,915
Income tax payable FEAHETISER 63,470 58,426
11,829,565 6,856,545
NET CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE 731,886 2,990,467
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERBABARG 15,312,356 14,059,349
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position & BR 4R & B 7 kR 2=

Unaudited Audited
REEX KRN
30 June 2013 31 December 2012
e —=
A +=—A=+—8
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T AREFIT
Restated*
g
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREEE
Interest-bearing bank loans SHRIRITER 27 18,941 -
Long term payables REBFEN IE 29 110,088 144,593
Deferred income IREU R 205,015 215,740
Deferred tax liabilities FERIEBE - 33,051
Other financial liabilities HibsmaE 30 633,768 544,858
967,812 938,242
NET ASSETS FEE 14,344,544 13,121,107
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the Company A~ &)#E A A FE(L s
Issued capital BRI 31 185,350 181,151
Shares held under Restricted Share Award IR I A AR B2 T
Scheme EEX=Pd o) 31/35 (131,812) =
Retained earnings IR FE 4,371,291 3,816,793
Other reserves HibfAE 32 9,297,055 8,491,301
13,721,884 12,489,245
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR IS R R S 622,660 631,862
TOTAL EQUITY MRER 14,344,544 13,121,107

*  Certain amounts stated above do not correspond to the audited consolidated ~— *  HilE FTHBEIAUE-_E——F+-A=+—HZK
financial statements as at 31 December 2012 but reflect the adjustments made FIZARE ISR - HERBLMITE34RT I 2 FrERR -
as described in Note 34.

e

LS



China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Interim Report 2013 040

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
BLEEREY Fa8 - IES

Attributable to owners of the Company

ADFRA AR

Shares

held under
Restricted Non-
Issued Share Award Other Retained controlling
capital Scheme reserves earnings EEY

TR
PELSRE ] iR
ERTRA HE<Rft  HtEE  RENE BRRE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETT AR¥Tn AR%Txn ARETR
(Note 31) (Note 31) (Note 32)
(i&E31) (Hi&k31) (&32)

For the six months ended HZ-E-=EXNA=tH
30 June 2013 (unaudited) IERER (REER)
At 1 January 2013 R=F-=F-f-H 181,151 - 8491301 3816793 12489245 631862 13,121,107
Profitfor the period ARERA = = - 749,494 749,494 100,886 850,380
Other comprehensive income HREMZEE
for the period
Changes in fair value of IRHERENLE
available-for-sale investments, 28 NBRE
net of tax - - (58,630) = (58,630) (6,653) (65,283)
Exchange differences on tranlation ~ #AE G50 754
of foreign operations R ER - - (67,543) = (67,543) = (67543)
Total comprehensive income BN ENGES
for the period - - (126,173) 749,494 623,321 94,233 717,554
Shares issued under equity-settled share 18I bARR () S (BRI IE R
option arrangements (Note31) HETNRGR (31 4,199 - 955,227 - 959,426 - 959,426
Equity-settled share option SRR ER R R
arrangements - - 40,529 - 40,529 - 40,529
Transfer of share option reserve upon — REERRIEE RIS K AE
forfeiture or expiry of share options P EERRIERAE = = (95,492) 95492 = = -
Shares purchases for Restricted Share AR IR Z 2B 2IEE
Award Scheme & - (131812 - - (131812) - (131812
Restricted Share Award Scheme RAIM RS Bl - - 39,960 - 39,960 = 39,960
Dividends paid/payable toowners — AAARIEEARR,/
of the Company RS - - - (20488)  (290489) - (20489
Dividends paid/payable to M3ERRRRRE S,/
non-controling interests RS = = - - - (76,863) (76.863)
Derecognition of puttable R RERARE
non-controling interests R R - = (8297) = (8.297) (26,064) (34,361)
Acquisition of a subsidiary g —FFAa = = - - - (508) (508)

At30June 2013 RZE—=FxA=1H 185,350 (131812)  9297,055 4371291 13,721,884 622,660 14,344,544
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity fiER 4R & s = B &R

Attributable to owners of the Company

LN YN 5

Non-
Issued Other Retained controlling Total
capital reserves eamings Total interests equity

FERRR
BETRA Hthfek REMNE Ait L in e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARBTr ARETT ARETT ARETT  ARET:
(Note 31) (Note 32)
(FizE31) (Pii32)

For the six months ended 30 June 2012 HZ—F-—FxA=tAHL

(unaudited) NMER (REEH)
At 1 January 2012 (Restated*) RZE-—%-H-R
(i) 181,087 8,190,634 3,099,337 11,471,058 577,762 12,048,820
Profit for the period REHE = - 644,690 644,690 103,222 747912

Other comprehensive income for the period BB E A1 2 EUGS
Changes in fair value of avallable-forsale ~ AIAHEREAA(E

investments, net of tax 2% 1RT0R - 20,638 - 20,638 %7 21,605
Exchange differences on translation of BERINETER

foreign operations EiEE - 23982 = 23982 = 23982

Total comprehensive income for the period BB 2 E UG % - 44,620 644,690 689,310 104,189 793,499

Shares issued under equity-settled share RBLAR X (TR BE AR L

option arrangements BITHRG 23 4234 - 4257 - 4,257
Equity-settled share option amangements WA ST BB EZHE - 108,022 - 108,022 - 108,022
Dividends paid/payable to owners EEYNGE 2N

of the Company FEfiRE - - (350,009 (350,009) - (350,009)
Dividends paid/payable to non-controling — [F3HERRRELR,/

interests RS = = - - (77,530) (77530)
Derecognition of puttable non-controlling 4% HEEZATEE

interests FIERRE S = 3177 = 3177 (26573) (29,750)
At 30 June 2012 RZE-——# A=1H 181110 8344333  33%4018 11919461 577848 12,497,309

*  Certain amounts stated above do not correspond to the interim condensed ~ *  MlAFEEUAHE T ——FRA=1+H2HHE
consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2012 but reflect the FRfRE ISR + MERBRPAEE34FTI 2 FRYEFAEE ©
adjustments made as described in Note 34.

e

LS
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
BRGsEHEERER

Unaudited
RBEX

For the six months ended 30 June

BEARA=THILEAEAR

2013 2012

—_E—= — T4

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR¥T T ARBFT

Restated*

K>

Net cash inflow from operating activities R IR E A IR EF A 2,331,577 1,156,476
Net cash outflow from investing activities KEEBSEANESFEFRH (@ (6,234,842) (1,967,125)
Net cash inflow from financing activities BB EHEEMIRSFRA 3,568,424 47,618
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents IR & MIR& S EYR D F58 (334,841) (763,031)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net & RS8R L (F58) (17,822) (2,371)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—HA—B®HRE &

WEEEY 22 2,917,541 4,322,066
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June RANA=ZTHNRE R
ReFHEY 22 2,564,878 3,556,664
Note: BfeE -

WHESHEAEHARIBAR=EAN LN ERT

B

a.  The balances included the additions of time deposits with original maturity of

more than three months, investment deposits and short term available-for-sale o REMGERREHAHEEREATEMARE
investments, with a total amount of RMB2,439,659,000(six months ended 30 2,439,659,0007(BE=Z——F/N"A=1THILAEAR :
June 2012: RMB989,236,000) during the period. AR #989,236,0007T) °

*  Certain amounts stated above do not correspond to the interim condensed ~— *  FHUETEEIGAEHE T ——FRNA=TH2FHE
consolidated financial statements as at 30 June 2012 but reflect the BRfRE IR - MERRPAEE34PTI 2 FYEFEE ©
adjustments made as described in Note 34.
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

B RAGR S B R R aR M aE

Corporate Information

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The Company is an investment
holding company and its subsidiaries are engaged in the manufacture
and distribution of dairy products mainly in the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC").

Basis of Preparation and Changes to the Group’s
Accounting Policies

Basis of preparation

The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements
for the six months ended 30 June 2013 have been prepared in
accordance with 1AS 34 Interim Financial Reporting and the disclosure
requirements of Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements do
not include all the information and disclosures required in the annual
financial statements, and should be read in conjunction with the
Group’s annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2012.

New standards, interpretations and amendments
adopted by the Group

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these interim
condensed consolidated financial statements are consistent with
those in the Group’s annual financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2012, except for the adoption of the following new or
revised standards and interpretations as of 1 January 2013.

The Group applies, for the first time, certain standards and
amendments that require restatement of previous financial statements.
These include IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 11 Joint
Arrangements, IAS 19 (Revised 2011) Employee Benefits, IFRS 13
Fair Value Measurement and amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. As required by IAS 34, the nature and the effect
of these changes are disclosed below. In addition, the application of
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities would result in additional
disclosures in the annual consolidated financial statements.

Several other new standards and amendments are applicable for
the first time in 2013. However, they do not impact the annual
consolidated financial statements of the Group or the interim
condensed consolidated financial statements of the Group.

NEEFR
AR ARFSRHBEMAIOER L ERE T
A7 - RAAN-FEARRAT - MHFAR
EBEFEARKNE((HE ) FURG EE
RASSHET -

IR A RIS TR

fim SLELTE
BE_ZT—=FA=tTHIEXEANREEZ
T HI AR A SRR IR R BN @ R34
S PRI B RS | NEEHARZARABE
# ERRZ R EREL

AREEZTHRERFEEMBRERLAHEFE
BB RABHOEBELIMWE - EEAEH
BE_Z——F+-A=T—HIFENUBR
R—HBIE -

REERMZHER - BRERIER

BRERMUTEE-Z—=F—F—B4LROH
B RAEETH BRI SR 2RI R 2N - 1R
BUAR A HARS AR A B RS SRR FTER B & 5T BUR
BESAREEHE S —F+-_A=1+—HIt
FERMTERTTIRNE R B -

AEEERERREEEAMMBRERNETE
AIRMER] - REFEANRIET BREBRTHHRE%E
RISEN0SRAF A 15 - BRI ISREERIZE N
e - BREGHEUFE 199 (ZF——F
RigEDERWET - BERMBIREEANF13RAA
1E71 2 N B R ERE 1 SR LA Z2 5 eE
7] o IRIBER S EERIE3ARNRTE - RFED
MIEE R ER TIRE - W - ARG
BEERNE 12\ AM B Em IR FEHEE
BRFEHEMBEHRRIEHEZHE -

SIEAEMMERRIETN B —=FHRER -
A - ZEFLEAREFTLBAUAEE 2 FREA
TSR R A KB 2 HEARG AR A M IS IR ISR

B/ R
R o
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Basis of Preparation and Changes to the Group’s
Accounting Policies (ontinued)

New standards, interpretations and amendments
adopted by the Group (continued)

The nature and the impact of each new standard/amendment is
described below:

IAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income -
Amendments to IAS 1

The amendments to IAS 1 introduce a grouping of items presented
in other comprehensive income (OCI). Items that could be reclassified
(or recycled) to profit or loss at a future point in time (e.g., net gain
on hedge of net investment, exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations, net movement on cash flow hedges and net loss
or gain on available-for-sale financial assets) now have to be presented
separately from items that will never be reclassified (e.g., actuarial
gains and losses on defined benefit plans and revaluation of land and
buildings). The amendments affected presentation only and had no
impact on the Group’s financial position or performance.

IAS 1 Clarification of the requirement for comparative
information (Amendment)

The amendment to IAS 1 clarifies the difference between voluntary
additional comparative information and the minimum required
comparative information. An entity must include comparative
information in the related notes to the financial statements when it
voluntarily provides comparative information beyond the minimum
required comparative period. The additional voluntarily comparative
information does not need to be presented in a complete set of
financial statements.

An opening statement of financial position (known as the ‘third
balance sheet’) must be presented when an entity applies an
accounting policy retrospectively, makes retrospective restatements,
or redlassifies items in its financial statements, provided any of those
changes has a material effect on the statement of financial position at
the beginning of the preceding period. The amendment clarifies that a
third balance sheet does not have to be accompanied by comparative
information in the related notes. Under IAS 34, the minimum items
required for interim condensed financial statements do not include a
third balance sheet.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements f&5BA4= & B 7§ SR &R M5
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements f& B4R & B 7§ R 3k M5

Basis of Preparation and Changes to the Group’s
Accounting Policies (ontinued)

New standards, interpretations and amendments
adopted by the Group (continued)

IAS 32 Tax effects of distributions to holders of equity
instruments (Amendment)

The amendment to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
clarifies that income taxes arising from distributions to equity holders
are accounted for in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes. The
amendment removes existing income tax requirements from IAS 32
and requires entities to apply the requirements in IAS 12 to any income
tax arising from distributions to equity holders. The amendment did
not have an impact on the interim condensed consolidated financial
statements for the Group, as there are no tax consequences attached
to cash or non-cash distribution.

IAS 34 Interim financial reporting and segment information for
total assets and liabilities (Amendment)

The amendment clarifies the requirements in IAS 34 relating to
segment information for total assets and liabilities for each reportable
segment to enhance consistency with the requirements in IFRS 8
Operating Segments. Total assets and liabilities for a reportable
segment need to be disclosed only when the amounts are regularly
provided to the chief operating decision maker. The amendment did
not have an impact on the interim condensed consolidated financial
statements for the Group, as the Group has disclosed the relevant
segment information.

IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Revised 2011) (IAS 19R)

IAS 19R includes a number of amendments to the accounting for
defined benefit plans, including actuarial gains and losses that are now
recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) and permanently
excluded from profit or loss; expected returns on plan assets that are
no longer recognised in profit or loss, instead, there is a requirement
to recognise interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) in profit
or loss, calculated using the discount rate used to measure the defined
benefit obligation, and; unvested past service costs are now recognised
in profit or loss at the earlier of when the amendment occurs or
when the related restructuring or termination costs are recognised.
Other amendments include new disclosures, such as, quantitative
sensitivity disclosures. As the Group has no defined benefit plans, the
amendment does not have an impact on the Group.

4= T K S B e RS R ()
REBERMZFER - REBRIERT(

B SR ERE2R AR A L AFEAFL DR
ZH A (BRA)
RestERERR2ERILHBTA - 250
BB RBRATARA AMELDIKEENAEH
RIEERE /’EH'J%Q%@? FHALR ° %IERTH)
BRIRE B SR ERIE32 2 ISTRE - 23K
B RSB AR S R E 0 IR E A BT 1S B I
BB ERIFE 125 IRTE » ZEFTALME AR
SETHEREE VKRR ENTE  BARE
HIERE DRI BELERBHE

B S EREMR A B HRERBEERE
B2 7 EFEH (BRI )

HIERT B BRI G R E 34T AR S AT RS
/\*Bﬁ‘EéF&ﬁFZ”*Eé?HE’]%Em A#E—F
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Basis of Preparation and Changes to the Group’s
Accounting Policies (ontinued)

New standards, interpretations and amendments
adopted by the Group (continued)

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures — Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities - Amendments to IFRS 7

The amendment requires an entity to disclose information about
rights to set-off financial instruments and related arrangements
(e.g., collateral agreements). The disclosures would provide users
with information that is useful in evaluating the effect of netting
arrangements on an entity’s financial position. The new disclosures
are required for all recognised financial instruments that are set off
in accordance with IAS 32. The disclosures also apply to recognised
financial instruments that are subject to an enforceable master netting
arrangement or similar agreement, irrespective of whether the financial
instruments are set off in accordance with IAS 32. As the Group is not
setting off financial instruments in accordance with IAS 32 and does
not have relevant offsetting arrangements, the amendment does not
have an impact on the Group.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and 1AS 27 Separate
Financial Statements

IFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to all
entities including special purpose entities. IFRS 10 replaces the
parts of previously in IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements that dealt with consolidated financial statements and
SIC-12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities. IFRS 10 changes the
definition of control such that an investor controls an investee when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee. To meet the definition of control in IFRS
10, all three criteria must be met, including: (a) an investor has power
over an investee; (b) the investor has exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee; and (c) the investor has
the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of
the investor’s returns. IFRS 10 had no impact on the consolidation of
investments held by the Group.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements f&5BA4= & B 7§ SR &R M5
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements f& B4R & B 7§ R 3k M5

Basis of Preparation and Changes to the Group’s
Accounting Policies (ontinued)

New standards, interpretations and amendments
adopted by the Group (continued)

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures

IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly-
controlled Entities — Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers. IFRS 11
removes the option to account for jointly controlled entities (JCEs) using
proportionate consolidation. Instead, JCEs that meet the definition of
a joint venture under IFRS 11 must be accounted for using the equity
method.

The application of this new standard impacted the financial position
of the Group by replacing proportionate consolidation of the joint
venture in Mengniu Arla (Inner Mongolia) Dairy Products Co., Ltd
(“Mengniu Arla”) (see Note 34) with the equity method of accounting.
IFRS 11 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013. The effect of IFRS 11 is described in more detail in Note 34,
which includes quantification of the effect on the financial statements.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

IFRS 12 sets out the requirements for disclosures relating to an entity’s
interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured
entities.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance under IFRS for all fair
value measurements. IFRS 13 does not change when an entity is
required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on how to
measure fair value under IFRS when fair value is required or permitted.
The application of IFRS 13 has not materially impacted the fair value
measurements carried out by the Group.

IFRS 13 also requires specific disclosures on fair values, some of which
replace existing disclosure requirements in other standards, including
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. Some of these disclosures are
specially required for financial instruments by IAS 34.16A(), thereby
affecting the interim condensed consolidated financial statements.

In addition to the above-mentioned amendments and new standards,
IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards was amended with effect for reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013. The Group is not a first-time adopter of
IFRS, therefore, this amendment is not relevant to the Group.

The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or
amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.
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Segment Information
For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has three reportable
operating segments as follows:

e liquid milk products — manufacture and distribution of
segment ultra-high temperature milk
("UHT milk”), milk beverages
and yogurt;
e ice cream products — manufacture and distribution of
segment ice cream; and
e other dairy products —  mainly manufacture and
segment distribution of milk powder.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/(loss), which is a
measure of adjusted profit or loss before tax. The adjusted profit or loss
before tax is measured consistently with the Group'’s profit before tax
except that interest income, finance costs, share of profits and losses of
associates and joint ventures, dividend income, as well as head office
and corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude equity investments and other unallocated
head office and corporate assets as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other unallocated head office and corporate
liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing
market prices.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements f&5BA4= & B 7§ SR &R M5
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements B B4R & B & SRR it 5%

3. Segment Information (ontinued)

The following tables present the revenue, profit and certain asset and

liability information for the Group'’s operating segments:

3. PEER @)
TH25I T AREBOEL S BOUA - FIEML
HEEMABHNER :

For the six months ended Liquid milk lcecream  Other dairy Intersegment
30 June 2013 (Unaudited) products products products eliminations Consolidated
HE-Z-=FxA=1AHL R TCEM Hit 2L
AMEA (REER) Em Em ARG i ooy
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARETRE AR%¥TR AR¥TR AR%Tx AR%Tx
Segment revenue: DEUA :
Sales o external customers HETINDEP 18,262,536 1,954,407 451,038 - 20,667,981
Intersegment sales DEREE 131,536 19,465 53,859 (204,860) =
Total fat 18,394,072 1,973,872 504,897 (204,860) 20,667,981
Segment results DEELE 1,087,114 40,584 (46,889) - 1,080,809
Interest income FEWA 132,423
Finance costs BARAR (33,714)
Share of profits and losses of BB AR REEE
associates and joint ventures M EE 29,651
Unallocated corporate expenses AOEPE A B L (173,105)
Profit before tax Iy 1,036,064
Income tax expense Frisfis (185,684)
Profit for the period Ny 850,380
At 30 June 2013 R-ZB-=FxA=1H
(Unaudited) (REEEZ)
Assets and liabilities BERER
Segment assets DEVEE 17,785,602 1,798,266 1,113,644 - 20,697,512
Intragroup elimination EFRNERE (6,700,004)
Unallocated corporate assets THEMARIEE 13,144,413
Total assets BEE 27,141,921
Segment liabilities HEEE 12,542,465 1,457,136 961,390 - 14,960,991
Intragroup elimination BRI (6,700,004)
Unallocated corporate liabilities THBRARIEE 4,536,390
Total liabilties BafR 12,797,377
Datstst iy
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements E§BR4R & B i SRR Mt 5%

3. Segment Information (ontinueq) 3. DEPEFR@m)
For the six months ended Liquid milk Ice cream Other dairy  Intersegment
30 June 2012 (Restated) products products products  eliminations  Consolidated
BE-T——F,RA=1HIt TREEL 7KEDH Hf) 7 EE]
FNEA (&) Em Em F8m i o)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR%®TT AR%TE ARETT AR%T:<
Segment revenue: DEBA
Sales to external customers HETINERF 15,963,272 2,158,257 122,295 - 18,243,824
Intersegment sales DEtfEEE 103,774 66 86,846 (190,686) -
Total FEE 16,067,046 2,158,323 209,141 (190,686) 18,243,824
Segment results PaR: 993,748 59,793 (5,933) - 1,047,608
Interest income FEWA 101,774
Finance costs BB AR (10,581)
Share of profits and losses of B AR RAE %
associates and joint ventures FFE K 1R (60,470)
Unallocated corporate expenses RO AR H (175,741)
Profit before tax I 902,590
Income tax expense FrisBi (154,678)
Profit for the period REAFE 747,912
At 31 December 2012 R-ZB-—F+=A
(Audited) =1+—H(&ER%)
Assets and liabilities BERERE
Segment assets DEEE 16,458,513 1,405,014 366,459 - 18,229,986
Intragroup elimination EFRNEE (5,233,628)
Unallocated corporate assets B RRIEE 7,919,536
Total assets mEE 20,915,894
Segment liabilities NEEE 10,988,647 816,066 393,189 - 12,197,902
Intragroup elimination EERNEPEH (5,233,628)
Unallocated corporate liabilities THENATEE 830,513
Total liabilties maf 7,794,787
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated

4. Revenue, Other Income and Gains 4,
Revenue, being the turnover of the Group, represents the net
invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for goods returns and
trade discounts, and after eliminations of all significant intra-group
transactions.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains is as
followvs:

Financial Statements f&BR 4R & B #5 3R R M FT

A~ EfUA K W
BARAEENEEE  HOEHERNERT
B - EIRREME SITM - URESEE BT
BRATMZ EARSRFAGHEE -

AREEAUWA - BB A RS DAL -

Unaudited
RS

For the six months ended 30 June

BEANA=THIEAEA

2013 2012
—E—=fF —F——4F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR%T R ARETT
Revenue: N
Sales of goods s s 20,667,981 18,243,824
Other income and gains: HAu A KU
Government grants related to BAHE) - B
- Assets —BE @ 9,695 9,361
~Income —A (b) 30,573 81,823
Foreign exchange gains, net b 5 s 558 73,583 =
Others Hith 15,785 17,251
129,636 108,435
20,797,617 18,352,259
Notes: M5

(@  The Group has received certain government grants in the form of
property, plant and equipment donations or cash donations to purchase
items of property, plant and equipment. The grants are initially recorded as
deferred income and amortised to match the depreciation charge of the
underlying property, plant and equipment in accordance with the assets’
estimated useful lives.

(b)  The government grants in the form of cash donations have been received
for the Group’s contribution to the development of the local dairy
products industry. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies
attaching to these grants.

@ BUFAME  BEMREBMSRSRHNEE
WE - BERREBAN  AAKERTETH
B - ZE MBS VIHERHRERES - WIRIEE
EREET A EAE I - DRCHARYX - B
B RS EHITER -

b AEERHEWARMTENRREMER - &
ERS BB ANBRAHEDE - Z5HBEUE
MR EAIRER R G S A IR -

Sr o
[/
&\\:v Y
-

VS
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HittiSCEEH

i

5. Other Operating Expenses

Unaudited
RISER
For the six months ended 30 June
BZEAA=tHLAEA
2013 2012
—_F—= —EF——F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARETT
Provision for trade receivables and FEULBRFX K H At EUR
other receivables TRIEEE 144 15,962
Provision for inventories FEEBE 286 5,283
Loss on disposal of items of property, BEME - BER
plant and equipment B 11,990 1,191
Donations B 11,513 2,610
Tax associated charges FHIEmA o 93,832 70,539
Foreign exchange losses, net bE H B R = 17,135
Others Hipth 19,915 12,140
137,680 124,860
6. Profit Before Tax 6. BATAE
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging: ANE BB AR IR TS IBE@ETE RS -
Unaudited
RISER
For the six months ended 30 June
BEARA=THLAEAR
2013 2012
—_Eg—= —E——F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARETTT
Cost of inventories sold HEFEMA 15,148,827 13,596,975
Realised and unrealised fair value losses of BERREFRITESHBHTA
derivative financial instruments, net N EETRFRE - 3,296
Cost of sales SHER A 15,148,827 13,600,271
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y - R MERIEITE 562,627 465,161
Amortisation of land use rights + b {5 PR AR £ 10,408 7,213
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hibm i E sy 6,992 3,891

Employee benefit expense (excluding directors'’ BB BHMER(TEEEER
and senior executive's emoluments) 2EITRAEME) 1,363,124 877,595
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7. Finance Costs 7. BB
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BMEXERNDTAT

Unaudited
RS

For the six months ended 30 June

BEANA=THIEAEA

2013 2012
—=F—= —FT——4F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETTT
Interest on long term payables REBFET FRIEFIE, 7,201 6,754
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable AR AFAEEEENRT

within five years ERAE 18,133 1414

Increase in discounted amounts of contingent B R M ANk AR EBHY
consideration arising from the passage of time WIRIRE 8,380 2,413
33,714 10,581

8. Income Tax Expense 8. FSHixi
The major components of income tax expense in the condensed AR A FIBRAMEH LN EERS A

consolidated income statement are:

Unaudited
RECEX

For the six months ended 30 June

BEAA=THLENEAR

2013 2012
—E—= —E——F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARETT
Current income tax BIHEAFTIS 5
Current income tax charge BUHARTS RS 170,933 149,403
Deferred income tax IEREFTISH
Relating to origination and reversal of AR EEEREREEESN
tax losses and temporary differences EEHE R [El 5 14,751 5,275
185,684 154,678
2 2
L) '
Ve WS Y
-

LS
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8.

Income Tax Expense (continued)
(@ Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided as the Group had
no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the period.

(b) The tax charge represents the provision for PRC corporate
income tax (“CIT") for the period at the prevailing tax rates
applicable thereto.

During the period, certain PRC subsidiaries were subject to tax
exemption in accordance with (i) the PRC CIT Law; (ii) “The notice
of tax policies relating to the implementation of western China
development strategy”; and (jii) “The notice of preferential tax policy
for preliminary processing of agricultural products”.

Earnings Per Share Attributable to Ordinary
Equity Holders of the Company

The basic earnings per share for the period is calculated by dividing
the profit for the period attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the period.

The diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for
the period attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during that
period, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation; and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been
issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise of all share options
during the period pursuant to contingent ordinary share provision in
IAS 33 Earnings Per Share.

PS8 s H )
(@) HBERAEEEHATEESBELTMER
RADE  MEHED B FISTEE -

b) AR BEERRRIRI TERRREN
BB RASH ([ RRMEH B -

HIA - REBO)PECEAETOE  (KERRAER
TEFT AR A R B A BT MR BB A +
(iXEER ZHZEXEXAEHEBBRNEEMRY)
MTHE T @A) ETHFEFRARZAR
B#e

AR EEBERES ANEIENERER

ENGI RS- N DR S T NGRS il e
BAEGEMBERASAR BT T BRI
PREREHE

SRERET TR A T BRI A A
ERI0 DA PR et 8 SRR R R PR A0S B
POE BT R AR T B A B A A AR
(T AR SRS 335 FREF
RISA R I A R TR HRAET
HEE -
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9. Earnings Per Share Attributable to Ordinary 9. ARAREBEREEAELNSRER

Equity Holders of the Company (ontinued) ()
The following reflects the profit and the number of shares used in the VAT 5T AR AN B 58 2 B P AR e 1R I
basic and diluted earnings per share calculations: RRHEE

Unaudited
RS

For the six months ended 30 June
BEAA=THLAEA

2013 2012
—E—=F —T——F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARYET T ARETTT
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders RARIEBRHERA
of the Company &GS 749,494 644,690

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

AHEESRERANMATRN

Number of shares

ROBE

(in thousand)
(FB)

Number of shares
Ringi=

(in thousand)
(T8

less shares held for Restricted Share Award LRI IR EUR
Scheme for the purpose of the basic LR B AR R A2 BT 2
earnings per share calculation a7, 1,786,914 1,767,571
Weighted average number of ordinary shares, FREL RPN HE AR i
assuming issued at no consideration on the BETEIRER BT
deemed exercise of all share options 2 TRl N8
during the period 1,351 58
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 5+ E GRY#EE Z R pT A AY
the purpose of the diluted earnings per share AR INFE S ER
calculation 1,788,265 1,767,629
2 2
L) '
Ve WS Y
-

LS



China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Interim Report 2013

056

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements E§BR4R & B & SRR Mt 5%

10. Dividend

11.

The directors do not recommend the payment of an interim dividend
for the six months ended 30 June 2013 (six months ended 30 June
20712: Nil). During the six months ended 30 June 2013, the Company
declared and paid final dividends of RMBO.16 (six months ended 30
June 2012: RMBO0.198) per share as proposed for the year ended 31
December 2012 to the shareholders of the Company.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment are as

follows:

10. IRE

11.

EREVARBERRBEBE_T—=FA=+AHI
ANEAAMPHRE(HE-T——FA=1+A
WENEAR &) - HE—T—=F A=tHI1tA~
@A ARERBEABBE—_T——F+=A
=+ —BIEFERARARRES IR &I EARAR
BERAREIGL(EHEZE=Z——F<A=1+8
LENEA - AR®0.1987T) ©

M - BENRZRE
UTRAKENE - BERREORBER

Unaudited Unaudited

RICER RECEZ

2013 2012

—B-=F —T—F

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR%T T ARBFIT

Carrying amount at 1 January R—HA—B8EREE 7,739,259 6,635,921
Additions A0 331,107 223,685
Transfers from construction in progress (Note 12) 5 7E32 T2 (Mf3312) 337,954 588,697
Disposals RE (20,530) (34,310)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 33) W —R T 2R (MFE33) 335,508 14,270
Depreciation charge for the period (Note 6) AETEE R (M:E6) (562,627) (465,161)
Carrying amount at 30 June AN A=THREREE 8,160,671 6,963,102

Certain property, plant and equipment of the Group with net
book values of approximately RMB250,137,000 (31 December
2012: RMB271,327,000) and RMB7,941,000 (31 December 2012:
RMBB8,047,000) have been pledged to secure the long term payables
and short-term bank loans of the Group, respectively, details of which
are set out in note 29 and note 27 to the interim financial statements.

REEE FRREFELN A R250,137,0007T (=
T——F+=-A=+—8: AR%¥271,327,000
o) M AREET94100T(ZFE—=—F+ A
=+—0 : ARM8,047,00070) % - BE &R
HECREAREBESREEMNRUE R G HRTT
ERHEAR - B BENR R BERR T
29K MiEE27 ©
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12. Construction in Progress 12. BETRE
Movements in the Group's construction in progress, all of which is AT AN B 23R A B R ) e 22 T2 &
located in Mainland China, are as follows: BIER

Unaudited Unaudited
RISER RISERZ
2013 2012
—E—=F —E——4F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFTT
Carrying amount at 1 January ®—A—H/EREE 596,812 886,674
Additions ey )li| 507,697 635,199
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 33) W —K A E (f5E33) = 45
Transfers to property, plant and equipment HEESYE R MERE
(Note 11) (PRzE11) (337,954) (588,697)
Transfers to land use right S 1 1 {5 A - (3.498)
Transfers to other intangible assets EREHME S E (1,077) =
Carrying amount at 30 June RNA=+HMREE 765,478 929,723
13. Goodwill 13. B8
Unaudited Unaudited
RISE REEZ
2013 2012
== —ET——F
RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARET T AREEF T
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—B/EREEAE 482,436 482,436
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 33) W —xR A E (f5E33) 272,760 =
Decrease VR (7,845)
Carrying amount at 30 June RNA=+HMEREEAE 747,351 482,436
2 2
L) '
Ve WS Y
-

LS
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14. Biological Assets 14. £YEE
The value of dairy cows at the end of the reporting period was: RERERROFERR
Unaudited Unaudited
RACER REEZ
2013 2012
—ZE—= —E—_4F
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Carrying amount at 1 January N—H—BrEREE 211,686 =
Increases due to purchase ESEGETT TR 124,080 -
Increases due to raising (Feeding cost and others) K158 (fR& R AN & E Ath)
g hn 55,011 -
Decrease due to sales HEmRL (5,188) -
Gains arising from changes in fair value DREZERHERNEE
less costs to sell AdES 13,087 -
Carrying amount at 30 June RNA=+BHREE 398,676 =
The Group's dairy cows in the PRC were valued by an independent REBEFRENIGTIBE LS BREELERD
qualified professional valuer. HEITRE -
15. Investments in Associates 15. REtE A RINRE
During the period, the Company acquired an aggregate of B AABIWEES LA R R BB AR
1,296,000,000 shares of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (“China REEBR AT ([ B3R A HE )& +£1,296,000,000
Modern Dairy”), a Hong Kong listed company, representing MR - A5 UEE S B R BIIR 3 4926.92% A%
approximately a 26.92% equity interest in China Modern Dairy as at - BB B AREE2,536,594,0007T © U7
the date of acquisition, at an aggregate purchase consideration of BEBER-_Z—=FRA=-+—H%K ' BUItF
approximately RMB2,536,594,000. The acquisition was completed on BUIRAA R AA A TIREE A T] o
21 May 2013 and since then China Modern Dairy became an associate
of the Company.
Particular of China Modern Dairy is as follows: BRAPBERARBENERAT
Place of Percentage of equity
Particulars of Incorporation/ interest attributable
issued shares held registration to the Group Principal activities
FFEERITROEN  FMKL/ ZoHE AEBEENRERSL FEEHR
2013 2012
—E-Zf “T——F
China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.  Ordinary Share of Cayman Islands 28% 1.08%  Production and sale of milk
HRERRMEERERAA HK$0.1 each HEMHS e
BREEET

B
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16. Available-For-Sale Investments 16. AIHHERE
Unaudited Audited
RACER K%
30 June 2013 31 December 2012
—E—=F —E——4F
ANA=tH +ZH=1—H
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARYT T ARBTT
Non-current Assets: SEMBEE -
Listed equity investments, RS
at fair value: Hong Kong BRARE B — 89,642
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value IELTRAIRE - ZARE - 144,201
Unlisted equity investments, at cost FELETRRAIRE + HRAANE 295,545 275,945
295,545 420,146
295,545 509,788
Current Assets: MENEEE :
Unlisted equity investments, at cost I ETRAIEE - RKANME
(Note) (PH&E) - 240,000
Note: FfeE
As at 31 December 2012, the available-for-sale investments measured at cost RZB—ZF+=ZA=+—H8 ' RREBHEEE MEKAE
under current assets represented certain investment instruments with original B ENATHEEREEETARANSMEIEEENR
maturity of less than one year acquired from domestic financial institutions. The FERALR—FHIRATIA - RETAAEEMRER
investment instruments were unsecured with no guaranteed return amount. BOIREHE o
2 2
L) '
Ve WS Y

LS
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17. Inventories

17. 78

Unaudited Audited

R EX i

30 June 2013 31 December 2012

—=E—= —F——4F

NA=+HA +=-A=+—H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT AREETIT

Raw materials AR 872,825 819,605

Finished goods =R 512,833 543,068
Total inventories at the lower of cost and IR AN EL O] B IR SR E MBS

net realisable value S ENTFELRRE 1,385,658 1,362,673

18. Bills Receivable

An aged analysis of the bills receivable of the Group is as follows:

18. BWRE
R EBREENERE AT

Unaudited Audited

RISEZ REZ

30 June 2013 31 December 2012

—E—=F —T——4F

ANA=+H +=ZA=1+—H

RMB'000 RMB’'000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Within 3 months 3MEA LA 191,866 121,600
4 to 6 months 4Z6fE A 81,106 50,996
272,972 172,596

The amounts due from associates of approximately RMB75,212,000
(31 December 2012: RMB45,838,000) were included in the
above balance. Certain bills receivable of the Group amounting to
approximately RMB74,683,000 (31 December 2012: RMB13,800,000)
have been pledged to secure the bills payable of the Group. Details of
which are set out in Note 24 to the condensed consolidated financial
statements.

Fili&EBPREREEE A RIRBBOARE
75212,0007t(ZE—=F+=A=+—H: AR
#£45,838,0007T) ° AEEETRKRERAHLHA
R#74,683,000L( —T——F+-A=+—8:
AR¥13,800,0007T) B & R1EASEESERMNSE
BB - AAFEEN GRS M SmEM
524 o
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19. Trade Receivables

The Group normally allows a credit period of not more than 30 days to
its customers which is extendable in certain circumstances. The Group
closely monitors overdue balances. In view of the aforementioned and
the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number
of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. The trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables of the Group, net of provision

for doubtful debts, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

19.

FEUSARX

AEB—RETES TBBORNEEN £
BEBRTALER - AEEZ B EANFE
Raeh - LSO R A AR KD B
ETRERNES AN  QLEEXEEETE
B o FEMRBRARIALAEBIASAIE, o

REBEER R EH N RUBR IR E R A HN
BRERDMTINT

Unaudited Audited

RACER &2

30 June 2013 31 December 2012

—E—=5F —FT——4F

ANA=tH +ZH=1—H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBTT

Within 3 months 3E A LAR 745,701 491,954
4 to 6 months 4Z6f{E A 97,712 182,074
7 to 12 months 721218 A 22,941 7,240
Over 1 year 1A E 811 1,844
867,165 683,112

The amounts due from associates of approximately R\MB170,674,000
(31 December 2012: RMB299,247,000) were included in the above
balance. As at 31 December 2012, an amount due from a joint
venture of approximately RMB97,539,000 was included in the above
balances. These balances are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
are repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to other major
customers of the Group.

P AEBeEREEE AR REHARE
170,674,000t (Z—E——F+=-A=+—1:
AR #299,247,0007T) c R=ZE——F+_H
=t+—B LSS EEK—REEOENE
# AR #97,539,0007C » ZSEEHAEIEEL R
B EEFEHRLTASEEMEEZEFNE
BEtEE -

e
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20. Prepayments and Deposits

21.

The Group has entered into various long term raw milk supply
contracts with certain milking cow raising companies. In accordance
with these contracts, the Group prepaid for raw milk supplies for the
next six years.

As at 30 June 2013, an amount due from an associate of
approximately RMB 11,886,000 (31 December 2012: RMB12,886,000)
was included in the balances. The above balances are unsecured, non-
interest-bearing and are repayable on credit terms similar to those
offered to other major customers of the Group.

Investment Deposits

As at 30 June 2013, the Group's investment deposits were purchased
from domestic banks with good credit rating and were stated at
amortised cost. The investment deposits were acquired with original
maturity of three months or less than three months and were not
allowed to be withdrawn prior to the maturity date without the
bank’s consent. The investment deposits were unsecured and had an
expected annual interest rate of 5.02% (31 December 2012: 5.05%).

22. Cash and Bank Balances, Pledged Deposits

20. AR RKRZE

21.

AEEEETRENHTRRRI LS 0 RAREE
PREAH - REZFAL - ARRENTRK
NENRBHDHEE -

RZE—=FA=1H SHeEEKHEA
AIFIBEHARE11,886,000( —E——F+—A
=+—H8 : AR%12,886,0007T) ° LilisEsrAE
Hif 28 BEEERELGTAEEHMES
BEPHIEE

REFH

RZE—=F A=1H AEENKREEFHY
BE B EEFRRITNAMIRT - WIREHEK AR
HIRR - FTEEMIRE TR RIBE A=Ak
DR=EA  BETERITRET - FEREIH
HATHGE - REGTRAEERR  BHEMNER
5.02%(=F——F+=-A=+—H :505%) °

2. BERBITETE - RELER

Unaudited Audited
RACER &2
30 June 31 December
2013 2012
2= —F——4F
ANA=tH +ZH=1+—H
RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR%T T ARETTT
Cash and cash equivalents e RIHEEEY 2,564,878 2,917,541
Pledged deposits IRES TR 444,823 51,602
Time deposits with original maturity of more than ~ [REIE A A& =1E 7 LA_E&Y
three months EHER 4,824,158 2,834,500
7,833,859 5,803,643
Less: Deposits pledged for W ERIRITRIE AR
banking facilities ReE SR (24 5%
(Note 24 and Note 27) Mi5E27) (444,823) (51,602)
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTHETF 7,389,036 5,752,041
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23. Trade Payables 23.
An aged analysis of the trade payables of the Group, based on the

invoice date, is as follows:

Financial Statements f&BR 4R & B #5 3R R M FT

FEASRRRX
R EBERAIRIE R R B I BRA TN T

Unaudited Audited

RIBEZ BEZ

30 June 31 December

2013 2012

—=E—=5F —=E=—_4F

AA=+H +ZH=1T—H

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARKETTT

Within 3 months 3@ A AR 3,414,616 2,283,674
4 to 6 months 4% 6@ A 55,483 32,727
7 to 12 months 721218 A 25,684 12,442
Over 1 year 1A 3,427 3,707
3,499,210 2,332,550

The amount due to an associate of approximately RMB2,200,000
(31 December 2012: RMB8,000) was included in the above balances.
As at 31 December 2012, an amount due to a joint venture of
approximately RMB14,637,000 was included in the above balances.
The balances are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and are repayable
on demand.

The Group's trade payables are unsecured and non-interest-bearing.

T EBRBEREREMNBEE AR RBEBOARE
2,200,000c(ZE—=—F+=-A=+—H: AR
8000T) c R—E——FE+=-A=+—8 -
FiZEHRPREREN —REELERBHARE
14,637,0007C ° ZER/HAHEER - RERERE
TR(EE -

AEENEMNRFAEERR RS o

e
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24. Bills Payable

An aged analysis of the bills payable of the Group is as follows:

25.

24. EEE

AEEENRBOREOMOT

Unaudited Audited

REEX KEZ

30 June 31 December

2013 2012

—E—=F —E—_4F

AHAH=tH +ZA=+—H

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETTT

Within 3 months 3ME AR 593,183 600,589
4 to 6 months 4Z6fEH 400,285 696,321
993,468 1,296,910

Except for an aggregate balance of approximately RMB149,107,000 (31
December 2012: RMB110,081,000) secured by the pledge of certain
of the Group’s deposits amounting to approximately RMB32,141,000
(31 December 2012: RMB49,602,000) (Note 22), and certain of the
Group'’s bills receivable amounting to RMB74,683,000 (31 December
2012: RMB13,800,000) (Note 18), the bills payable are unsecured. The
above balances are non-interest-bearing.

Other Payables

The amounts due to associates of approximately RMB1,303,000 (31
December 2012: RMB12,681,000) were included in the balances. The
balances are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and are repayable on
demand.

25.

SAFHIARE149,107,000C(ZE——F+ =
A=+—8 : AE¥110,081,0007T) K ER Z &
HERR T AR B R E A A R 32,141,000 (=
T——F+ZA=+—H : AR%¥49,602,000
) (MFH2)METERRAEEABARE
74,683,0007t(ZE—=F+ZA=+—H: AR
#513,800,0007T) (FFE18) B0& T FEUL S (SR 180
SN HERMENER A - billdsAaRs -

HAEAFIR
ZEERBTEENBE AR RBEHOARE
1,303,000c(ZE—=F+=A=+—H : AR
12,681,0007T) ° ZFAERRMEIKI - £ 0 KA
ER(EE -
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26. Accruals and Customers’ Deposits 26. ERBAREF®
Unaudited Audited
RIBEZ S
30 June 31 December
2013 2012
—E2—= —E——%F
AA=+H +ZH=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Advances from customers BEIEMNR 364,489 664,684
Salary and welfare payables ENEeRETE 549,515 310,961
914,004 975,645
The amounts due to associates of approximately RMB28,993,000 ZEEMRBTEENBE AR RBEBHARE
(31 December 2012: RMB80,392,000) were included in the above 28,993,0007L(ZFE——F+-HA=+—H : AR
balances. The balances are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and are #80,392,0007T) ° ZELEHAERKE « £ B NE
repayable on demand. JEZSRIER -
27. Interest-Bearing Bank Loans 27. sHERITER
Unaudited Audited
RBERX LEZ
30 June 31 December
2013
—E—=
ANB=1H
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AREEFTT
Current: EPER :
Short term bank loans, secured G HRIRTTE RN (B IRIE) 475,827 16,000
Short term bank loans, unsecured EHRTITE () 3,218,925 557,777
Current portion of long term bank loans, REFIRITE SR (IR B9
unsecured BIHAES 5> 262,924 =
3,957,676 573,777
Non-current: JERNAER :
Long term bank loans, unsecured RERITE R (RIEH) 18,941 -
7
L) '
Ve WS Y
-

VS
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27. Interest-Bearing Bank Loans ontinued)

28.

Notes:

(@)

As at 30 June 2013, short term bank loans of approximately
RMB475,827,000 (31 December 2012: RMB16,000,000) were secured
by certain plants (Note 11) and pledged deposits (Note 22) of the Group.

As at 30 June 2013, except for a short term bank loan of
US$334,963,000 equivalent to approximately RMB2,068,246,000
(31 December 2012: RMB38,852,000) and a long term bank loan of
US$45,362,000 equivalent to approximately RMB281,865,000 (31
December 2012: nil) denominated in United States dollars and a short
term bank loan of HK$1,885,000,000 equivalent to approximately
RMB1,501,591,000 (31 December 2012: RMB405,425,000)
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, all the Group's interest-bearing bank
loans were denominated in RMB.

During the six months ended 30 June 2013, the annual interest rates
of the short term bank loans and the long term bank loans varied from
1.17% to 9.47% and 2.22% to 2.25% (six months ended 30 June
2012: varied from 1.75% t0 9.47% and 4.86% to 5.76%), respectively.

Other Loans

Other loans were all granted by local government authorities in the

PRC for the purpose of supporting the Group’s establishment of

production plants in various locations in the PRC. The balances are

unsecured, interest-free, and with no repayment terms.

27.

28.

STESRITER @)
B EE -

(@) RIT—Z=F A=+H EHRTEZHAR
#475,827,000( —E——F+=-A=+—H: A
R¥16,000,0007T) Ty A S BE TR E (MizE11)
RREBESFR(HIFE22) (B IR -

b RZTE—ZF-A=Z1+8 BRTEHRTEX
334,963,000 7T (FH 5 1A 49 A R ¥ 2,068,246,000
TI(ZTE—ZF+ZA=+—HH: AR¥%
38,852,000 7T ) K & HA$R 17 B 5145,362,000 % 7T
(BBERHARKE281,8650007T) (ZE——4
+ZA=1+—8 : E)UETAEMN  UREH
R 17 B 51 1,885,000,000 7% 7T (FH ER AR
1,501,591,0007C) (ZE—=F+=-A=+—8H:
AER#405,425,0007T0) LA TT A BERIIN - AEEFT
Bt BERITERTVAARE BEBAL -

éﬁz;‘é_%‘\f—iﬁﬁ_+ammlﬂ EERTT

FRRBRITEROEMNES BN F117%E
9.47%&2.22%i2.25%(%zgfgf,fri/\ﬂ
=+BIEANEAR - NF1.75%E9.47% K 4.86% =
5.76%) 28 °

—~
(&)

M
=T

Ht&?
Htly Bk 2 #hea R IO T BT B B A AR
ERES AL FRELERE MR - Dk
AEIER - REREREHREN -

\
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29. Long Term Payables 29. REAFENFIE
The Group's long term payables represent the amortised costs of AEENRPENZIAREERBELERES B
outstanding instalments payable for the purchase of production XATRRIA R B SRR A o BEIEPTE RV ERR IR
equipment. The effective interest rate used for the amortisation is the MSEARIFIE - BRAMRIERRNT -

prevailing market interest rate. The balances are repayable as follows:

Unaudited Audited
RBEX KEZ
30 June 31 December
2013
—E—=5F —_FT—
AA=tH +ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Within 1 year 1R 48,267 51,536
110 2 years 1824 47,894 48,859
2 to 5 years 2&55F 62,194 95,734
Total long term payables REBFE FRIB 425 158,355 196,129
Less: Amount due within 1 year included in B T ARBI A ERE AR
current liabilities under other payables FIEM—FNEIHIRIE (48,267) (51,536)
110,088 144,593
Certain long term payables are secured by the Group’s property, plant EFEHEMZIBEBUAEENYE  BERR
and equipment (Note 11). VR (PfIEE11) ©

e

VS
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30. Other Financial Liabilities 30. HftemaE

Unaudited Audited
RIBEZ KB
30 June 31 December
2013 2012
=2—= —E-CF
ANA=+H +ZH=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARKETTT
Contingent consideration FARE @) 130,167 101,486

Present value of considerations to be AR E S 5 (b)
paid in coming years REMRE 25,867 -

Present value of a redemption amount A FEIEARAR R ©

for potential acquisition of puttable e BT YA
non-controlling interests fBEEeFENIRE 477,734 443,372
633,768 544,858
Notes: BEE

(@  During the period, the Group has agreed to pay on demand the
contingent consideration of RMB100,000,000 arising from the Group's
acquisition of Shijiazhuang Junlebao Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Junlebao”) in
2010 and therefore reclassified the amount to other payables. As at
31 December 2012, the fair value of the contingent consideration was
RMB95,887,000.

The fair value of the contingent consideration of RMB6,000,000 arising
from the Group's acquisition of Shijiazhuang Junlebao Leshi Dairy Co.,
Ltd. (“Leshi”) in 2011 was re-measured to RMB5,770,000 as at 30 June
2013 (31 December 2012: RMB5,599,000).

The fair value of the contingent consideration arising from the Group’s
acquisition of Mengniu Arla is RMB120,131,000 at the acquisition date
and re-measured to RMB124,397,000 as at 30 June 2013.

(b)  The fair value of the considerations to be paid in the coming years arising
from the Group'’s acquisition of Mengniu Arla is RMB25,038,000 at
the acquisition date and re-measured to RMB25,867,000 as at 30 June
2013.

(©  According to the equity purchase agreement entered into among the
Group, Junlebao and the non-controlling shareholders of Junlebao, the
Group granted a put option to the non-controlling shareholders under
which the non-controlling shareholders have the right to sell, and the
Group has an obligation to buy the 49% equity interest in Junlebao after
2016. At 30 June 2013, the Group derecognised the carrying amount
of non-controlling interests of RMB301,605,000 (31 December 2012:
RMB276,137,000) and recognised a financial liability at the present value
of the amount payable upon exercise of the option of RMB477,734,000
(31 December 2012: RMB443,372,000) and accounted for the difference
into equity.

(@)

©

AHAREBECRERER YR - —SFUE
ARABLEIEBRAR([BLE | FEEN
HARIEAR100,000,0007T © FLZHEBEEE
DEEHMENTK - RE——F+_A=+—
A IAREH DR ERARE95,887,0007T

REBR T ——FURBARTELE LT
BRARN([48 ) FTEENSIARBEAABARE
6,000,0007T - ERZ=ZZE—=FNA=F+HEH:t
BAARES770,0000(ZE——F+=-F=+—
H : AR#5,599,0007T) °

A ERUREE A U BB AT E A Rk AR
BAAEARK120,131,0007T - ER-T—=%
NA=THEFHEARARK124,397,0007T

RS R U S B HRUBE Bt SR A P A P ZB A IR
FRAHREIARBEARE25,038,0007T ' ERZ
T—=FRA=+HEN:TERARY25,.867,000
ﬁ o

BIRAEE  BHERBLENIFERIREL
HRAEE N AEERFEERRERLR
SHIE - B RZZT— NFERIFERREAE
HE - RASEEETHEEBLEI0%RIE -
R-ZE—ZFA=+H AEERILHERIE
12 A% A% SR A 55 0 AR DB A R #6301,605,0007T (=
T——F+-A=+—H: AR®¥276,137,000
TL) ¢ A RIRITE R R E N AR EA R
477,734,000t (ZE—=F+=-A=1+—H: AR
#443,372,00070) ER A BAE - WEEEFTA

o -
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31. Share Capital and Shares Held for Restricted 31. BRANK FiIR B4R ZE BT EISH N

Share Award Scheme iie)

Unaudited
30 June 31 December

2013

—E—=fF =
~NA=tR +=-A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Authorised: JEIE
3,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 3,000,000,000/% &H&

HK$0.1 each H{EO. 178 THY E B 319,235 319,235

Number of
ordinary shares

LZERHE
(0]0]0) RMB’'000
T ARETTT
Issued and fully paid: BEITRHE - 1,768,232 181,151
At 1 January 2013 RZE—=%F—A—H
(Audited) (f&#Z)
Shares issued under equity-settled TR I LARRAD S A~ BE A @)
share option arrangements LHEETRIRR D 52,711 4,199
At 30 June 2013 RZZE—=%F/A=+H
(Unaudited) (REEERZ) 1,820,943 185,350
At 1 January 2012 R=Z——F—H—AH
(Audited) (gE|%) 1,767,400 181,087
Shares issued under equity-settled IRIE AR S A B BB A (@
share option arrangements TR THIRR (D 282 23
At 30 June 2012 RZZE—=F/A=1H
(Unaudited) (REEEZ) 1,767,722 181,110
* o)
L) '
Ve WS Y
-

LS
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31. Share Capital and Shares Held for Restricted

Share AWard Scheme (continued)
Notes:

(@  The 52,710,856 (2012: 282,487) share options exercised during the
period resulted in the issue of 52,710,856 (2012: 282,487) ordinary
shares of the Company and issued capital of RMB4,199,000 (2012:
RMB23,000) and share premium of RMB955,227,000 (2012:
RMB4,234,000). The weighted average share price at the date of exercise
for these options was HK$26.09 (2012: HK$23.53) per share.

(b)  During the period, the Restricted Share Award Scheme (Note 35)
acquired 6,256,000 of the Company’s shares (2012: nil) through
purchases on the open market. The total amount paid to acquire the
shares during the period was RMB131,812,000 (HK$165,478,000) (2012:
nil).

31. RAKRMBESMHERERBTEIFEN
FRA5 ()
HisE -

() HIRA $£52,710,85610 (=T — —4F : 282,4871%)
BEARAEIET T - BEEITAAF]52,710,856% (=
T—ZF 1 282487 ERBR R EEITRAAR
#4,199,0007T( —FB——4F : ARME23,0007T) &
BN B A RE955,227,0007T(ZE——4%F : AR
#54,234,0007T ) ° % EREAFERNTT(E B 2 IS
FR(B AER%26.0978 7T( B ——4F : 23.53#7T) ©

(b) HARMRFIMERR 2 B AT 8 (M FE35) BB AR ™
% 8 86,256,000 RARARRMD(ZT—=4F :
&) HINEEZSRONENSBEHEAARE
131,812,0007T (165,478,000 L) ( = ZF — —4F :
;) o
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32.

Movements in other reserves of the Group during the period are as

follows:

For the six months ended 30 June 203 HZ=F-=£xF=1H

Share  Contributed Statutory

premium surplus reserves

RitaE  BHER  ERR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTR ARETR

Hitfeé e
R EBR R R R R BT -

Currency
translation
differences

&
BEER
RMB'000

ARBTR

Available-
for-sale
investment
revaluation
reserve

&

Share
option
reserve/
Restricted
Share
Award
reserve

BiE

REEfE @R/ R

]
RMB'000
ARBTR

RERTE
RMB(000
ARBTT

Other
reserve

ikt
RMB1000
KRBT

&5t
RMB'000
ARBTT

(unaudited) AR (REEHR)
At 1 January 2013 W=%-=%-f-A 6,318,939 232,020 1,111,351 (488,695) 58,630 817,416 (158,360) 8,491,301
Other comprehensive income: Eh2mEE :
Change in fair vlue of avalable-forsale ~ FEHEERE R (EEF) -

investments, net of tax HBHE - - - - (58,630) - - (58,630)
Exchange difference on translation of BERNERN

foreign operations Exzs - - - (67583) = = = (67,543)
Total comprehensive income for the period A2 Elz 2% - - - (67.543) (58,630) = - (126173)
Shares issued under equity-settled share 1B ARID TR EVER IR I 2t

option arrangerents (Note 31(3) EIRA(MEE) 955,227 - - - - - - 955,227
Equity-settled share option arrangements RIS REERER = = - - - 40529 - 40,529
Transfer of share option resenve upon {7 R EERRIER ERE

exercise of share options ERiERE 434,032 - - - - (3403) = -
Transfer of share option reserve upon BIEE R ke

forfeiture or expiy of share options BRTRRERE = = = - - (95492) - (95,49)
Restrcted Share Award Scheme e tRE] - - - - - 39,960 - 39,960
Derecognition of puttable R R E SRR

non-controling interests FER - - - - - - (8297) (8297)
At30June 2013 R=F-=FAA=1A 7,708,198 232,020 1,711,351 (556,238) - 368,381 (166,657) 9,297,055

&7 o
. | N
Heve o i)
&

LS
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32. Other Reserves (ontinued 32. HbfEE @)

Available-

for-sale
Currency  investment Share
Share  Contributed ~ Statutory  translation  revaluation option
premium surplus reserves  differences reserve reserve

A&

g% REER
Rive®E  REBR  iRE  BEZE e WRERE  HERG At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTR ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR  ARKT:R

For the six months ended 30 June 2012 HZ=F--%xB=1H

(unaudited) ERfEA (REEH)
At 1 January 2012 W=Z-—5-f-H 6,302,591 232,020 1475715 (489,169) 9,404 802,529 (14245) 8,190,634
Other comprehensive income: E2mbs

Change in fair value of avallable-forsale AT HERERNAERE) -
investments, net of tax bR = - - - 20638 - - 20638

Exchange difference on transation of BB
foreign operations EXEE - - - B8 - - = B

Total comprehensive income for the perod SR M B8 - - - 2398 20,638 - = 44620

Shares issued under equity-settled share 1R ABRD AR AR IEZ Bt

option arrangerents (Note 31(3) BIRG(HE31Q) 4234 = = = = = = 4234
Fouity-settled share option amangements  JABA S f#VERIRIE R 5 - - - - - 108022 = 108022

Transfer of share option resenve upon 7 EERIERERE

exercise of share options ERIERE 4,285 = = = = (4,285) = -
Derecognition of puttable IR SR
non-controling interests Rz - - - - - - 3,177) 3177)

At30 June 2012 Z2-CFA=1R 6,311,110 232,020 1475715 (465,187) 30,042 906,266 (145633) 8344333
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33. Business Combination

(@)

Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2013:

On 10 January 2013, the Group acquired a 49% equity interest
in Mengniu Arla (Inner Mongolia) Dairy Products Co., Ltd.
(“Mengniu Arla”), a previously jointly-controlled entity, from the
joint venture partner. Mengniu Arla is mainly engaged in the
production of milk powder. The acquisition was made as part of
the Group's strategy to expand its market share of milk powder
in the PRC. Pursuant to the original joint venture contract
entered into in 2006, except for Mengniu Alar, the Group
was not allowed to establish or set up other entities to run the
milk powder business in the PRC. Subsequent to this business
combination, this restriction was void.

The acquisition was made in the form of cash, with
RMB60,000,000 paid at the acquisition date, an aggregate
of RMB40,000,000 paid equally in the first, second, third and
fourth anniversaries of the acquisition date, and the remaining
RMB150,000,000 as a contingent consideration, which is to be
paid if certain operating results criteria can be achieved or by the
Group over the subsequent years.

33. EBEH

(@)

R-TB—=FWBE—RFLOAF

RZZB—=F—A+8  xEER&ERBH
WREARETRERFARMBEREERR
([BRHESRA 1) 949 % kg - BRIESRAF AR
WEBRI AR SEE 7 SKRIEFI T o BSR4
ZEBREBREEDY - ZWBRANEEE
RERP B TIHD R EESH —EF 7 ©
RER-_ZTRFILNRERLLES
#) o BB SRS - AREBEA R AR SL
Hib B - NP BIEETMER - X L%
BEGHE - BRARBIC RS

ZWBULBESEAIMN  ERFARK
60,000,000 TR KEE B 1 - AHARY
40,000,000 C R B U E B ETE — -
ZZRMEBRBFEESMN  HBARE
150,000,0007C &k ARME - IEAREBER
e B ED A T & S RIS AT
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33. Business Combination (ontinued)

(@)

Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2013: (continued)

33. #¥¥E8Hw
@ R-T——FERE—RTAT: (&)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Mengniu PEE AR RAF 2 AR EERABBZR

Arla as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

REWT

Fair value

recognised on

acquisition
52 i B
BRAZAAE
RMB’000
AR¥T R
Assets &E
Property, plant and equipment L ERN G ] 335,508
Land use rights T AR 12,796
Other intangible assets Hifmp & 20,996
Trade receivables FEUERTR 32,912
Long term investment REIRE 2
Prepayments and deposits SENE/YSE G 3,688
Other receivables H A EWGRIE 6,501
Inventories e 114,451
Cash and bank balances Re RRITHET 52,696
579,550
Liabilities =N
Trade payables FERTERIR (213,542)
Accruals and customers’ deposits EREBANEF® (35,630)
Other payables Hith e 508 (381,198)
(630,370)
Total identifiable net liabilities at fair value BAARESRZ ISR ZEEEEE (50,820)
Less: Non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of & : IEEAARERAEZIR LI D15 2
identifiable net liabilities AERFaE (508)
Less: Goodwill previously allocated to Mengniu Arla W RO ERE R AR (7,845)
Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition (Note 13) hn o UREsEE R E(FIE13) 272,760

Purchase consideration at fair value

RASEFEZWRNE 214,603
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33. Business Combination ontinued)
(@)  Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2013: (continued)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other receivables
as at the date of acquisition amounted to RMB32,912,000
and RMB6,501,000, respectively. The gross amounts of trade
receivables and other receivables were R\MB32,912,000 and
RMB6,501,000, respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB3,680,000 for
this acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed
and are included in administrative expenses in the condensed
consolidated income statement.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of

Mengniu Arla for the current period is as follows:

33. EXKE 0w
@ R-T——FERE—RTAT: (&)

FUEE B A FE U BR 3R E b FE L EIE A o
B H3lABARE32912,000T kAR
6,501,0007T © J& 45 AR 3K K H i & W 3R IE )
BE S B A ARKE32,912,0007T kAR
6,501,0007T °

AEERZUBELERIRAARKE
3,680,0007T ° #ZERX SR EIRERE F
BRI EIFAITTRER -

RABERERHRFNRSTES TN
T

RMB’000

AR¥T R

Cash consideration HerRE 60,000

Cash and bank balances acquired FTEE IR € RARTT 417 (52,696)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents PREREFDEEANRSREANN

included in cash flows from investing activites ~ R&RBELZEWERH 7,304
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in ~ BIEERLEBELNRSTRENN

cash flows from operating activities WEE R SR AN 3,680

10,984

Since its acquisition, Mengniu Arla contributed RMB394,351,000
to the Group’s turnover and net losses of RMB18,068,000 to
the consolidated profit for the six-month period ended 30 June
2013.

BHUER  BESFAAEEEE—-T
—=FNA=THIENE R B E R R
FAEFHE - S RIER A R394,351,0007T
NoFEs1E AR #18,068,0007T ©
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33. Business Combination (ontinued) 33. ¥¥eftwm
(b)  Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2012: b) R=Z——FWE—FRFRAA:

RZZE——FMNA+—B  AEEABYE
=HREEREARTAESRAR(AITD
100%R%HE o RKITEBWBEEILRGR © %
Wi AAEERAE N RHILESMSNEE
RISREE ) —E0D - ZUIBMBERED NI
fEE A AR AR%13,000,0007T 1 ©

On 11 April 2012, the Group acquired a 100% interest
in Shijiazhuang Taihang Dairy Co., Ltd. (“Taihang”) from
independent third parties. Taihang is mainly engaged in the
production of dairy products. The acquisition was made as
part of the Group's strategy to expand its market share of
dairy products in the PRC. The purchase consideration for the

acquisition was in the form of cash of RMB13,000,000 paid at

the acquisition date.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Taihang as
at the date of acquisition were as follows:

4 -

R A AT A BRI EERREN R A E

Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
NS
RO ARE
RMB’000
ARETT

Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment W - BREREE 14,270
Construction in progress EEITR 45
Land use rights T AR 5,448
Other intangible assets Hih &&= 30
Trade receivables FEM AR R 391
Prepayments and deposits SN VS8 1,220
Other receivables E i E YR IA 70
Inventories FE 33
21,507

Liabilities =F
Trade payables FERTAR K (3,526)
Accruals and customers’ deposits EREAREFE € (480)
Other payables E At T ERIR (750)
Other loans HEmER (3,416)
Income tax payables FTRIRITER (335)
(8,507)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BARBEY R UEBNEEEAT 13,000
Goodwill arising on acquisition (Note 13) WS EE R B (F9EE13) =
Purchase consideration BENAE 13,000
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33. Business Combination (ontinued)

(b)

Acquisition of a subsidiary in 2012: (continued)

The fair values of the trade receivables and other receivables
as at the date of acquisition amounted to RMB391,000 and
RMB70,000, respectively. The gross amounts of trade receivables
and other receivables were RMB391,000 and RMB70,000,
respectively.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB45,000 for this
acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and
are included in administrative expenses in the condensed
consolidated income statement.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of

Taihang is as follows:

33. EKE 0w

()

REE——FRE—RFLR : (&)
RUE B EUER R R E M EURGRIEA
E5 Bl A AR 391,0007T K A K #70,000
TC o FEYURFA R EAb FEUGRIB R & KR ZE D
Rl A AR KE391,0007T M A KEE70,0007T °

AREEZUEBELER 5 KA AR 45,000
T ° ZERXZRACRERES BRI HE
WEt ATTIE e

BHENABRKERITHRSRES TN
T

RMB'000

ARETT

Cash consideration HaRE 13,000

Cash and bank balances acquired FriiEER & RIRTTAETT =
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents induded in BRI ERBELNIR S REAN

cash flows from investing activities RekReEEWF R 13,000
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in cash BREECEEREENRSREAR

flows from operating activities WBE 22 SN 45

13,045

Since its acquisition, Taihang contributed nil to the Group’s
turnover and net losses of RMB499,000 to the consolidated
profit for the six-month period ended 30 June 2012.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the period,
the revenue and the profit of the Group for the period ended
30 June 2012 would have been RMB18,360,566,000 and
RMB747,086,000, respectively.

BEYER  ATTALEREE=—_ZT——F
NAZTHIESNEANEEBREAFNES
BB RIZ T M AR H499,0007T ©

BRAHREBEE_ZT——FA=+H1L
B4 - AEBPNERHRARFBEE
7 5l A A R #18,360,566,000 7T &2 A R #E
747,086,0007T
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34. Investment in a Joint Venture

The Group had a 50% interest in Mengniu Arla before 10 January
2013. Under IAS 31 Investment in Joint Ventures (prior to the transition
to IFRS 11), the Group's interest in Mengniu Arla was classified as a
jointly controlled entity and the Group'’s share of the assets, liabilities,
revenue, income and expenses was proportionately consolidated in
the condensed consolidated financial statements. Upon the adoption
of IFRS 11, the Group has determined its interest to be a joint venture
and it is required to be accounted for using the equity method. The
initial investment as at 1 January 2012 is measured as the aggregate
of the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities that the Group
has previously proportionately consolidated to the extent that the
Group's investment in the joint venture is reduced to zero. The effect

of applying IFRS 11 in the comparative period is as follows:

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements E§BR4R & B & SRR Mt 5%

34. REEDECRE

RZZE—=F—ATHA - AEREHEFRHFF
50% 2z o IRIREIR G ERIEI R RNEE
REMIRE |(RBE Z R SR E2ERIZE 115
Al) » REEREMH RS 2w - DRAKEE
HIER  mMAKE G EE  BF - WaE -k
ARZH - SR ALRE TR o REMA
BUPR B S i S R RSB 1155718 - REBRETE EPrfs
BanBaL¥  WAREREANR - EtER
ZE-ZF-A-BH2ZNFRER - NEELZ
RItEBIE I EER A EREE 2 MARGE R
¥RESHE  WAZRESERIZEZRR -
RECE AR R BRI s s ERAE 115k o &
LUNNE

For the

six months

Impact on the condensed consolidated income ended
statement 30 June 2012
HERRENERZTE Bz
—E——F

~NA=1H

1E7{E A

RMB’000

AR¥T T
Decrease in revenue W AR (116,742)
Decrease in cost of sales SHER AR 49,753
Decrease in gross profit ERR D (66,989)
Decrease in other income and gains H Ao I A R iz (349)
Decrease in selling and distribution expenses HE RKHE R 105,640
Decrease in administrative expenses 1T B AR 6,146
Decrease in other operating expenses H bk & B> 3,860
Increase in operating profit AR I N 48,308
Decrease in interest income F BU AR D (73)
Decrease in finance costs B kAR 1,456
Share of losses of a joint venture EhEErEEE (49,691)

Net impact on profit before tax
Net impact on income tax expense

HEANEAFERR =
HASHLOFEEE =

Net impact on profit for the period

HAEPNEOFERR S
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34. Investment in a Joint Venture (ontinued) 34, REEEZRE®

As at

Impact on the consolidated statement of 31 December

financial position 2012

BEREUBRRE 28 E R=-ZB——F

+=RA=+—H

RMB’000

AR®¥T T

Decrease in property, plant and equipment Y - BB MR (152,655)
Decrease in land use rights b P R AR (6,252)
Decrease in other intangible assets HAhER B ER (1,749)

Increase in trade receivables JE U BR FRIE N 58,025
Decrease in bills receivable FEU = SR (3,790)
Decrease in inventories FERD (57,225)
Decrease in prepayments and deposits AR RZS R (1,990)

Increase in other receivables Hfth fE Y SR TE I 0 117,145
Decrease in cash and bank balances Be MIRITHETR D (26,349)
Decrease in assets EERD (74,840)
Decrease in trade payables FESBRROR (49,405)
Decrease in other payables At FE T RIRR (56,878)
Decrease in accruals and customers’ deposits FEREAREFISRD (17,815)
Decrease in liabilities @R (124,098)
Increase in equity REZRIZ N 49,258

As at 31 December 2012, the Group’s unrecognised share of
accumulated losses of the investment in a joint venture was
RMBA49,258,000, as the Group has no legal or constructive obligation
for the losses or the negative net assets and accordingly the Group did
not recognize the corresponding liabilities and adjusted it against the
retained earnings.

This change in accounting policy does not have material impact on
the interim condensed consolidated statement of cash flows, other
comprehensive income or the basic and diluted earnings per share.

RZT—ZFF+ZA=+—8  ~EEREE
BEBEFRZAERSDHRTBEAARE
49,258,0007T  JRAAEEE LB AEE
SFEWELAESETET A AEESEHE
REEEE - 2B RARREFE -

THIEREARERER ARSI B

REARREERF - BESD FletBREE
BRTE -
B Faei
%
e Z 1Y,
L

P
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35. Restricted Share Award Scheme

The restricted share award scheme (the “Restricted Share Award
Scheme”) of the Company was adopted by the board on 26 March
2013 (the “Adoption Date”). The purpose of the Restricted Share
Award Scheme is an incentive to encourage the Participants for the
continual operation and development of the Group.

Subject to the terms of the Restricted Share Award Scheme and the
Listing Rules, the board may at any time make an offer to any eligible
person it may in its absolute discretion select to accept the grant of
an award over such a number of shares as it may determine. Existing
shares of the Company will be purchased by the independent trustee
(the “Trustee”) of the Restricted Share Award Scheme from the
market out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for
the relevant Participants until such shares are vested with the relevant
Participants in accordance with the provisions of the Restricted Share
Award Scheme. The shares of the Company granted and held by the
Trustee until vesting are referred to as the Restricted Share and each
Restricted Share shall represent one ordinary share of the Company.

No Shares shall be purchased pursuant to the Restricted Shares Award
Scheme, nor any amounts paid to the Trustee for the purpose of
making such a purchase, if as a result of such purchase, the number
of Shares administered under the Restricted Shares Award Scheme
shall exceed 5% of the issued share capital of the Company, and the
maximum number of Restricted Shares which may be granted to a
Participant at any one time or in aggregate may not exceed 0.5% of
the issued share capital of the Company at the Adoption Date.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the board,
the Restricted Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective until
the later of (i) 5th anniversary of the Adoption Date and (ii) the date on
which the audited financial results of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2017 are published in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements f&5BA4= & B 8 SR &R M5

35. RN FEERENE S

AR BIRR 1 B 3R 2 Bt 81 ([ R Bl M E A R 28R T
DR =F=A=+B(ERNBH]%E
E=ERM - RAMERRERH S 5 EREH2H
FHERAKENRERERELRR -

RIBR SRR R T &R e EARA - &
EZEUERAEMNAEBALIELEN  BE
BERATREERBERESTSRERH 2 BRR
B Z 22 - RHVIEAE SR8 2 B X AT
ATEFRADAAEBHENR SN TS LBE
ARRRERD - RAEET AR BRE2EER
B EERFRORER HIMER R LEB &2 15

FENER2EERL - CRERBAZFEAR
BEERBZARARRMIERBIERD - MRR
LR D ISR A R — IR E AR o

BUERMIRIE ARG R ZRETSEREE - 75
BEBRZFEANERFEAMELEREBE - HE
BRBEE  BEARGIERREZREIE RO
BB BBARREEITRALZ5% » PEMRBEFRE
AR TE—2EENRHIMERTEEE LR%E
MG HBARM B PARARE BT/ 20.5% °

XENEES T BT EARFAL - BREIE
BREERES—EARRER EEA TR
AU (RS A RERLBEE B R)ANARIRE -
MRATIEBEE—T—tF+_A=1t—HLLHF
ERRECIBEEE B CAREBERE) -
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35. Restricted Share Award Scheme (continued)

On 26 April 2013, a total number of 17,569,400 Restricted Shares,
representing 0.99% of the issued capital of the Company as at the
Adoption Date, were granted to the Selected Participants. The Selected
Participants are persons who, in the opinion of the Administration
Committee, contributed directly to the overall business performance
and will contribute to the sustainable development of the Group. Out
of the total shares granted, 8,425,800 Restricted Shares were granted
to the Chief Executive Officer, who is also an executive Director of
the Company, which would vest in five tranches each on the first,
second, third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the Grant Date in
accordance with certain vesting conditions (including the Group'’s
performance targets), subject to the publication of the full-year results
of the Company for the relevant financial year. The grant of Restricted
Shares to other directors, senior management, heads of departments
and other employees of the Group shall vest in full on 31 March 2014
in accordance with the vesting conditions (including the Group’s
performance targets), subject to the publication of the full-year results
of the Company for the relevant financial year.

During the period ended 30 June 2013, based on the Company’s
instructions, the trustee of the Restricted Share Award Scheme has
purchased a total of 6,256,000 ordinary shares of the Company
on the Stock Exchange at a total consideration of approximately
RMB131,812,000 equivalent to HK$165,478,000.

The fair value of the Restricted Shares granted was calculated based
on the market price of the Company’s shares at the respective grant
dates. No dividend will be considered. The weighted average fair value
of the Restricted Shares granted during the period ended 30 June
2013 was HK$21.65 per share. The Group recognised the Restricted
Share expenses of approximately RMB39,960,000 (30 June 2012: Nil)
into the condensed consolidated income statement during the period.

35. PR&IMIRZ R EETE ()

R-ZZE—=FMA=-+8 ' AEERAKETL
E1E 1% A $£17,569,400 A% PR B AR 17+ (h AR
AR B E 2 BB1TIRA0.99% - fTHEE®
RAE R T2EEABTHASEREBEKR
REEEFR - URAAEEITREZRZA
T o RER LRGN 4228 - 8,425,800 fR I 1 AR
DIETFHRB(ETRARQRNTES) * %ZER
DRES THEBGRE(BEARERREE) -
AREERRER - MEERBRY B ABEE B
BE— = =  UERRERF - HEFAAR
AR FE TR 2 FXER - HOEE - [
FEBEMEE  mREEAE  HPFIEERE
bl B 2 RBIMERRD + SRR B K (BRI
REBXRRER)  RZZ—WF=A=+—8B%
YHEE  MASAARFEEMBFEENEEF
¥kiE%  AAEE o

HE-_ZT—=FA=THILHH  BELARA
B REIERE SRR 8l 2 ZFE AR R FTIE
A& $£6,256,000 AN A FIE B - BRENAA
R#131,812,0007T (18 & 74165,478,000/7T) °

BEREREIMRN 2 ARE - TIERARRRMD
REEL BB TERE 9 8rgi kR
B BE_ZT—=FXNAZ+ALIHEAREZE
HIMERR ) < DT R A (B - mENR21.658TT
HA - ANEBERERAEFIERT - BRR
MERSAD S H #9 AR #39,960,0007T( —Z— —4F X
A=+R:%)-
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36. Contingent Liabilities 36. WAEE
Aside from the disclosure in note 30 and 38, the Group had BREMIEE30 X 38H B B RLIN - MRS BIARAR
contingent liabilities not provided for in the interim financial statements SEEIW N BRI SRR IELBE 2 AR EN
at the end of the reporting period as follows: T

Unaudited Audited

RREX REZ

30 June 31 December
2013

—E-=
ANA=+H

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARET T

Guarantees given to banks in connection AT ALPTERRE R

with facilities granted to: IRITIEH 2 AR -
Third parties F=h 163,000 -
37. Capital Commitments 37. BAEIE
The Group had the following outstanding capital commitments in RIRERR - AEEFABEREEME  BE
respect of the purchase and construction of property, plant and KRB EZASENT

equipment as at the end of the reporting period:

Unaudited Audited
REERX REXZ
30 June 31 December

2013 2012

—Eg—=
ANB=+H

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBET T

Contracted, but not provided for EEEEE R 237,147 520,464
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements E§BR4R & B & SRRt 5%

38. Related Party Transactions 38. BN L5
(a) In addition to the transactions and balances which are disclosed (a) BAXRMBBHREREMEBSSHRBENR S Mttt
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the O REBEERENT - AEhEREM
following significant transactions with its associates, a joint Bl A THETT NFIERA S -

venture and other related parties.

Unaudited
RISER

For the six months ended 30 June

BEANA=THIEAEA

2013 2012
—E—=5F —=E=—_4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
) Sale of liquid milk products to Mm-S N R EHE (i)
associates TRESWIEE T 2,200,980 2,104,840
() Sale of ice cream products to mEE N EHE (0}
associates TEE S 154,827 157,545
(D) Sale of other dairy products to MBS N F S (0}
associates HEab L& 15,905 9,087
(V) Sale of raw materials to a AEErEHE (ii)
joint venture R - 72,858
V) Purchase of raw materials from RAARRR—EE (i)
affiliates of a major shareholder PSR Bt EE 22 7)
of the Company BE RV 149,018 277,740
(V) Purchase of raw materials from an RS EEE (i)
associate EAE 160,765 -
(V) Purchase of ice cream products from  [AJ#t& A EIREE (i)
an associate ICEMEE S 62,702 63,313
(VI)  Purchase of raw materials from a AEErXEE (ii)
joint venture TR - 58
Notes: FtEE -
()  The considerations were determined with reference to the then () ERRL2EERMSERRERE=H
prevailing market prices and the prices charged to third parties. BISETE -
(i) Such transactions were conducted at cost, which approximated to (i) WERFEEAAE(NESRME ZTE)E
the prevailing market price of the raw materials. o

e

LS
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38. Related Party Transactions (ontinued) 38. BBEALRZ @)
(b) Other transactions with related parties (b) EEEEEEATETHHEMRS
The Group has guarantees of the below amounts in connection REER SRITEFEROFIRMNT

with interest-bearing bank loans:

Unaudited
RIBERZ
For the six months ended 30 June

BEANA=THIEAEA

2013 2012
—E—=fF —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARETFT
Guarantees provided for a joint venture R—HEEERENER - 2,720
() Compensation of key management personnel of the (0 AEENEZEEEASHHRH
Group

Unaudited
RICEX

For the six months ended 30 June
BEARNA=THIAEA

2013 2012

—E-= —T——F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T R ARETT

Directors' Fees =¥k 885 420
Salaries and allowances e RoER 4,907 5,085

Retirement benefit contributions BRIREFIHERR 258 222
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Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements f& B4R & B 7§ Rk M5

38. Related Party Transactions (ontinueq)
() Compensation of key management personnel of the
GI’OUp (continued)

Notes:

()  The key management compensation represented remuneration
paid or payable to the directors and senior executives of the
Company.

(i) During the period from 2006 to 2012, certain directors and senior
executives were granted share options in respect of their services
to the Group under the share option schemes of the Company. In
accordance with IFRS 2, share-based payment benefits represent
the fair value at the grant date of the share options amortised to
the condensed consolidated income statement during the period
disregarding whether the options have been vested/exercised or
not. During the period, the share-based payments relating to the
share options granted to these directors and senior executives
were approximately RMB6,277,000 (six months ended 30 June
2012: RMB31,547,000).

(i) ~ During 2013, certain directors and senior executives were granted
restricted shares in respect of their services to the Group under the
Restricted Share Award Scheme of the Company. In accordance
with IFRS 2, share-based payments represent the fair value at the
grant date of the restricted shares amortised to the condensed
consolidated income statement during the period disregarding
whether the restricted shares have been vested/exercised or not.
During the period, the share-based payments relating to the
restricted shares granted to these directors and senior executives
were approximately RMB9,726,000 (six months ended 30 June
2012: Nil).

38. A LR F @)
AEENWEFEEE A SR E)

(9

Pk

@

(iii)

TRERASNBRMEENHANTARE
BEENDARITHABNME -

RITTFE_T——FHW FTES
RESMITEA 8 F R S B (AR R
AR EIEARAERTEIIE TR ALE o ARIRERR
BTSSR RIS 25% - AR AERA
ERERERERZ L BB AARE - IRE
RERGATIERAT AR - MHwZRS
BRIERTCRE 116 - iR - BRRT
ZEBEERBEITHRABBERENLRG
BERY KA AREE,277,000T (B ZE
—E-—FEXA=ZTHALANEA  ARE
31,547,0007T) °

REZE—=F  ETESRSRITHRAERA
B LSRN E B R ARTE MR AR RIR H AR
ZHERTEI TR - RIRERE
WERRE25E - RN BERMIARE
FRGIMERR DI B 2 A ER ARSI
B A W R - TwREIROEEES
B ETE - AR MZSEERER
TTBABF L 2 BRARBIARD 2 LARRD BE
RSB AR 726000 (HE-T
——FEXA=+HINEA - &) -
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39. Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments

as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

39. ERTH
REEDR - SRTASERINEREENT

Financial Assets: SREE !

Available-

Loans and for-sale
receivables financial assets Total

BERR AR HE
R IE SREE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR%ETR ARET T
Available-for-sale investments AR ERE - 295,545 295,545
Bills receivable FEWER 272,972 = 272,972
Trade receivables FENBR K 867,165 - 867,165
Other receivables H b Uk IE 293,491 = 293,491
Other financial assets HibmhEE 52,173 = 52,173
Investment deposits BEFR 850,000 - 850,000
Pledged deposits RESTFHR 444,823 - 444,823
Cash and bank balances e NIRTTETF 7,389,036 - 7,389,036
10,169,660 295,545 10,465,205

Financial liabilities: SRaE:

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
298 88 B A
RN EmAE
RMB’000
AR®T T
Trade payables FERTBR X 3,499,210
Bills payable e ZE 993,468
Other payables H e S 508 2,349,161
Interest-bearing bank loans STEBITER 3,976,617
Other loans HiER 33,187
Long term payables REIFERFUB 110,088
Other financial liabilities Ememat 633,768

11,595,499
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39. Financial Instruments (ontinueq)

Fair value

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair values:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, the current portion of
pledged deposits, trade receivables, trade and bills payables, financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, current
interest-bearing bank loans and other loans, approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The fair values of other financial assets, the non-current portion of
interest-bearing bank loans and long term payables and other financial
liabilities have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments on similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities.

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing
the fair values of financial instruments:

Level 1:  fair values measured based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2:  fair values measured based on valuation techniques
for which all inputs which have a significant effect on
the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3:  fair values measured based on valuation techniques for
which any inputs which have a significant effect on the
recorded fair value are not based on observable market
data (unobservable inputs)

39. £t T H e

DA
CREERBEZANEAZTIANBRIINS
TREETZRSCRETBFEHERINPAR
Mz SRR -

SXEINARMEET AR ERTDENERER

RePRSEFBYNRAE - RESFRORD
;o - BEER  BNRARENRERE - 28R
BN e REAMBEIENEREE - B
REMENRIBELEREANSRAE - REE
BRTEFRREMERE T AREHND HmE
B2 FREERS

HieMEE - stERITERRKIENKIEAN
FRBEBAAREMERBEN AR BETRARE
R - FERBRRHTIHAN TARRAIE
BN EITIRBEIRISR SR EN T AR E -

AEBENA T EREELRESRTIAZAA

F—A . REHAREENBERERETISH R
BOREHRRB)GHEAARE

FE_F . DAEERMGMERNETE A2
PRtk R A BB EAZ BN B AR
B R B S R RS R

F=H . DAEENGERMEE - BEEY
FTRLix M DR EEEARF ENBAR
BRI A BRI BUR (FEAT
BERG ARR)
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39. Financial Instruments (ontinueq)

Fair value hierarchy (ontinued)
The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during the
reporting period are as follows:

Available-for-sale investments — unlisted

39.

£ T )
NAREEBHKE)
RBEHE=RAAESNESHIT :

30 June
2013
—EB-=fF

ANA=+H
RMB’000
AR®T T

AHHERE L™

At 1 January w—HA—H 144,201
Reversal through other comprehensive income RE A2 E SR G (144,201)
At 30 June RNA=+H =

40. Subsequent Events

41.

On 18 June 2013, the Company announced to make a general offer
to Yashili International Holdings Ltd (“Yashili”) a company listed
in Hong Kong. As at 13 August 2013 (the final closing date of the
general offer), valid acceptances of the share offer have been received
in respect of 3,196,747,945 Yashili shares, representing approximately
89.82% of the issued share capital of Yashili. Upon completion of the
acquisition, Yashili will become a subsidiary of the Company. Yashili
is mainly engaged in the production of formula milk powder. The
acquisition was made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its
market share of formula milk powder in the PRC.

On 20 May 2013, the Group entered into a framework agreement
with Danone Asia Ptd Ltd in relation to the planned establishment of
a yogurt joint venture. The two parties are to merge and reorganise
their chilled products businesses in PRC. On 9 August 2013, The two
parties entered into the Equity Joint Venture Contract in relation to
the establishment of a joint venture holding company, which will be
engaged in the production and sales of chilled yogurt, chilled yogurt
drinks and spoonable dairy based dessert in PRC. An 80% interest
in the joint venture was held by the Group, with the remaining 20%
interest held by Danone.

Approval of the Interim Financial Statements
The unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
28 August 2012.

40. Hi8S1E

41.

—E—=FXATN\B  ARREMA—RES
EMARRLEFBERERAR AR FHELEH )3
HEEmUEEY - R=E—=FN\A+=AE2
EWEENSEEIEAE)  ROBNEEEZE
WM - 4 53,196,747 9458 M RIPED - AEE
PRI FI B B/ TAR A 4989.82% © BHEETEAIE » T
TRERARARZ FAR - HEFEBHEE
BRI - WEEEDEAREENS
HEINEC S P TTIB D RERI N B

MZZE—=FAA=+8 ZK&EEHEDanone Asia
Ptd LidFT S/ HEZR 5% - WA BT BRI R A
BEh¥ EHBEeHEANTENEBEMSE
B-RZE—=FNANB  EFFIUGELE
AR KM ABERAR  BERBIEANEE
BEED - KRB IR AP AT R AT B £
REHEXETS - AEERBEEERFIB0%ER « i
DanonefI#F B 84 T 20% 5

AR RS ER A AU
AREE LRGSR RS BRER - —=FF
NAZHN\BEEE L BT -



= RF
ARHEBEE

China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited
PEREEZFAEZBRAT
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RREESFMRIZERAR)

Stock Code &3 HL5% - 2319

Www.mengniu.com.cn
WWwW.mengniuir.com

MIX

Paper from
responsible sources

gwrsc os FSC® C022951




	Cover

	Corporate Profile
	Content
	Corporate Information
	Highlights
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Report of the Directors
	Independent Review Report
	Condensed Consolidated Income Statement
	Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
	Back Cover



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (Japan Color 2001 Coated)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.6
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /sRGB
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness false
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
    /CFangSong-Light
    /CGuLi-Bold
    /CGuYin-Bold
    /CHei-UltraBold
    /CHei2-Bold
    /CHei2-Xbold
    /CHei3-Bold
    /CJNgai-Bold
    /CKan-Xbold
    /CNganKai-Bold
    /CO2Yuen-XboldOutline
    /COYuen-Xbold
    /COYuen-XboldOutline
    /CPo-Bold
    /CPo3-Bold
    /CSong3-Medium
    /CSu-Medium
    /CXLi-Medium
    /CXing-Medium
    /CXingKai-Bold
    /CYuen-SemiMedium
    /MBei-Bold
    /MHei-Bold
    /MHei-Light
    /MHei-Medium
    /MHei-Xbold
    /MKai-Medium
    /MKai-SemiBold
    /MLi-Bold
    /MNgai-Bold
    /MSung-Light
    /MSung-Medium
    /MSung-Xbold
    /MYuen-Light
    /MYuen-Medium
    /MYuen-Xbold
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages false
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 200
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.40
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages false
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 200
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.40
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages false
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 300
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<
    /CHT <>
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /BleedOffset [
        0
        0
        0
        0
      ]
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToRGB
      /DestinationProfileName (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
      /DestinationProfileSelector /UseName
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MarksOffset 0
      /MarksWeight 0.283460
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PageMarksFile /JapaneseWithCircle
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
    <<
      /AllowImageBreaks true
      /AllowTableBreaks true
      /ExpandPage false
      /HonorBaseURL true
      /HonorRolloverEffect false
      /IgnoreHTMLPageBreaks false
      /IncludeHeaderFooter false
      /MarginOffset [
        0
        0
        0
        0
      ]
      /MetadataAuthor ()
      /MetadataKeywords ()
      /MetadataSubject ()
      /MetadataTitle ()
      /MetricPageSize [
        0
        0
      ]
      /MetricUnit /inch
      /MobileCompatible 0
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (GoLive)
        (8.0)
      ]
      /OpenZoomToHTMLFontSize false
      /PageOrientation /Portrait
      /RemoveBackground false
      /ShrinkContent true
      /TreatColorsAs /MainMonitorColors
      /UseEmbeddedProfiles false
      /UseHTMLTitleAsMetadata true
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [600 600]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




